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Financial Overview

2563 / 2020 2562 /2019 2561 /2018

VoyavnyunIsiiu

Financial Statements

AUnNsngsau @wum)
1,958.5 1,954.2 1,959.3
Assets (Million Baht)
2 .
NUAUTIU (@rum)
e 43.4 68.3 43.4
Liabilities (Million Baht)
AUV DU @mum)
LR . 1,915.1 1,885.9 1,915.9
Shareholders’ equity (Million Baht)
s18l@aInnse @rmvm)
1,571.8 2,074.5 2,246.5
Revenues from sales (Million Baht)
Y3unesne #1
101,072 121,676 116,748
Sales volume Mt )
fﬁ’ﬂﬁuéfumﬂm'ﬂn&mé’w%’uﬂqammumﬂmﬁamgaf’h @mum)
YDIAUANPINGD
S 149.4 115.9 95.5
Gross profit from sales after Loss from diminution in  (Million Baht)
value of inventories
a a YVaa E4
MERuladRyAea (GEPIG)
: 21.1 12.3 8.3
Income tax expense (Million Baht)
Mls @anu) dmsutndsanninagntuladiuana (@)
K K 84.0 a8.5 33.1

Profit (Loss) for the year after Corporate income tax ~ (Million Baht)

5mswz—ioum\1msﬁu
Financial Ratios
InSEUNLAUADEILVBILD DU ()
_ . v 0.02 0.04 0.02
Debt-to-equity ratio (Times)
BNINFILENINATDY ()
. 40.9 195 31.2
Current ratio (Times)
gnsmanlsanSresanue ($aeae)
1 5.34 2.34 1.47
Return on net sales (%)
DT INANDUMNUND BV ($0682)
v 4.42 2.55 1.72
Return on equity (%)
DT INANDULNUINNAUNSNE ($o8/32)
4.29 2.48 1.67
Return on assets (%)
Mls (venu) anssonu (Um)
] o ! 0.07 0.04 0.03
Earnings per share (Baht)
yaAmuUYTIsoN (V)
v : 1.71 1.67 1.69
Book value per share (Baht)
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Report of the Board of Directors

Mr. Taweesak Senanarong
Chairman of the Board

In 2020, the world has faced with the COVID-19 pandemic that adversely affected the global economy.
Meanwhile, the domestic economy has been adversely affected by COVID-19 as the state’s need to take lockdown
measures to halt the spread of the virus. Tourism and industrial sectors were force to shut down the operation.
Although the government has tried to take the measures to stimulate the economy, Thai economy as a whole
is still shrinking more than 6 percent. For the situation of world steel, the steel prices is still volatile as the steel
prices were stabilized in the first half of the year before continuing to rise in the second half of 2020.

For the overall operation in 2020, the sales amount was decreased 25.5% from Baht 2,068 Million in 2019
to Baht 1,542 Million in 2020. This was due to the decrease in the average selling price from Baht 17,000 per ton
in 2019 to Baht 15,700 per ton in 2020 and the sales volume has also decreased 22,866 tons from last year as a
result of the drop in domestic demand of steel as affected by COVID-19 pandemic. Although the selling price of
the steel bar has decreased in 2020, the Company has cautiously put the strong effort in planning and ordering
the billet from various sources in order to get the reasonable price. Therefore, the Company can manage the
average metal spread as well as the gross profit margin to increase from prior year and finally led to the increase
in operation results from net income of Baht 49 Million in 2019 to Baht 84 Million in 2020.

Finally, the board of directors has considered the result of operation, financial position, and liquidity, and
decided to propose in the 2021 general meeting of shareholders to approve the dividend payment at 0.08 Baht
per share, amounting to Baht 89.69 million. Nonetheless, as the board of directors have approved the decision
to pay interim dividend to shareholders at 0.04 Baht per share for totaling of Baht 44.84 Million which had been
paid on 9th September 2020, thus, if the 2021 general meeting of shareholders approve the pay out of dividend
as proposed the Company will pay the final dividend to the eligible shareholders at 0.04 Baht per share for the
totaling amount of Baht 44.84 Million on this coming 17th May 2021.

The board of director would like to take this opportunity to show our appreciation and gratitude for our
shareholders, customers, trading partner, staffs of all level and every party involved for the support all along. We

hoped that you will continue to support us in the future.

SNV e

Mr. Taweesak Senanarong
Chairman of the Board
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Report of the Audit Committee

Mr. Komkris Prachakris
Chairman of the Audit Committee

The Audit Committee of Bangsaphan Barmill Public
Company Limited consists of three independent member
whose qualifications are appropriate and in compliance
with the regulations stipulated by the Stock Exchange of

Thailand and the Securities and Exchange Commission.

The Audit Committee’s member consists of:
Chairman of
the Audit Committee

Audit Committee

- Mr. Komkris Prachakris

- Mr. Charin Hansuebsai

- Mr. Tawat Polquamdee  Audit Committee

In 2020 the Audit Committee has performed under
the scope, duties and responsibilities as assigned by the
Company’s Board of Directors and specified in the Audit
Committee Charter, in accordance with the regulations
of the Stock Exchange of Thailand which were fully
cooperated by the Company’s management, internal
auditors and auditor. The Audit Committee held 5
meetings with the Company’s management, internal
auditors and auditor as appropriate, including a meeting
with the auditor without the management for realization
of their work environment, to exchange views with them,
to be provided any suggestions and updating the new

accounting standards.

The Major activities of the Audit Committee summarized

as follows:
1. Financial Statements

The Audit Committee reviewed the quarterly and
annual financial statements for the year 2020 together

with the management and the Auditor by considering

8 Bangsaphan Barmill PLC.

the accounting information and compliance with the
financial reporting standard. The Audit Committee
sufficiently inquired and obtained the explanation as well
as made recommendations and comments in various
points concerning the Company’s financial reports prior
to submitting to the Board of Directors for approval
before disclosure to the Stock Exchange of Thailand
and the Securities and Exchange Commission. The Audit
Committee opined that the financial statements were
prepared in accordance with the general accepted
accounting principles, accurate, sufficient disclosure

and reliable.
2. Internal Control System

The Audit Committee jointly worked with the Internal
Auditor by reviewing the report based on the audit plan
and reviewing the sufficiency of the Internal Control
System with aim to prevent possible risk. The audit
committee reviewed the internal control assessment for
the year 2020 with the Assessment Form of Sufficiency
of Internal Control System prescribed by the Securities
and Exchange Commission (SEC). The Audit Committee
opined that there was no significant flaw from operation.
The Company had suitable sufficient and effective
Internal Control System and Internal Audit System as

well as appropriate personnel.
3. Legal Compliance

The Audit Committee reviewed the report of the
legal compliance with resulations under Securities
and Exchange Act, regulation of the Stock Exchange of

Thailand, rules, regulations and orders of the Government



!

authorities and law relating to Company’s business and
opined that the Company’s operations were complied

with the relevant laws and regulations.
4. Risk Management

The Audit Committee was responsible to understand
the risk assessment method of the Company which the
Management had arranged the measures to cope with
the significant risks. It was found that the Company had
the ability to appropriately and effectively control and
manage the risks that varied according to the environment
from both internal and external factors such as economic

situation, laws and regulations.
5. Related Party Transactions

The Audit Committee considered the related party
transactions or transactions with potential conflict of
interest and found that such transactions were carried
out appropriately with the normal business practices
and for the maximum benefit of the Company and the

information disclosure is accurate and complete.
6. Nomination of External Auditor

The Audit Committee considered performance
of EY Office Limited, the Company’s auditor, in the
previous year that satisfactorily performed its duties,
reliability, independence, capability to provide service
and consultation on accounting standards, auditing and
certification of the financial statements in a timely manner
and the appropriate remuneration. The Committee,
therefore, resolved to propose to the Company’s Board

of Directors to present to the Shareholders’ Meeting

on the appointment of Ms. Israporn Wisutthiyan or Ms.
Supannee Triyanantakul or Ms. Watoo Kayankannavee
of EY Office Limited as the Company’s auditor for the
year 2021.

7. Self-Assessment

The Audit Committee performed self-assessment
in accordance with the guideline of the Stock Exchange
of Thailand. The Audit Committee had the opinion that
the Audit Committee practices were in compliance with

such guideline.

In conclusion, in 2020 the Audit Committee has
performed its duties independently in accordance
with the scope of duties and responsibility. Expression
of opinion was carried out based on the principles
of transparency and verifiable. The Audit Committee
conclude that the Company’s financial statements
were prepared in accordance with financial reporting
standard. The internal control, internal audit and risk
management systems were adequate and effective.
As for related transactions which might entail conflict
of interest, there were actual transactions that arose
from the normal course of business. Furthermore, the
Company was in compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations. The business of the company was conducted

with good corporate governance of the Stock Exchange

of Thailand.
v.-\/ L_}\/

Mr. Komkris Prachakris

Chairman of the Audit Committee
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Mr. Charin Hansuebsai
Vice Chairman and Audit Committee

Mr. Komkris Prachakris
Chairman of the Audit Committee
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Mr. Win Viriyaprapaikit

Director

Mr. Tawat Polquamdee
Audit Committee

UNEKE 199U HY

nssUNs

u1gWII U Kav

NSsSUN1S

Mr. Lee, Chien-Hung

Director

Mr. Fang, Jin-Long

Director

UNYKa 19: IKdU

NSSUNISYINNS

ugauydIN BUNMNRHOUY
NSsSUN1S

Mr. Lee, Yeh-Wen
Managing Director

Mr. Anuwat Chaikittivanich
Director
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Director’s Profile

1. UNgN3ANR 1IaUTUSIA 1. Mr. Taweesak Senanarong
USEHIUNTIUNIT WAY NTTUNTDATE
91y 85 U

ANMUAUNUSNIIATOUATITENININTTUNNTIIETY - halTl-

Chairman of the Board and Independent Director
Age 85 years
Family Relation among Management: None

Sdndunssunis : 16 U Tenure: 16 years

dnehunisteviuluuien -lug- Shareholding Equity: None

ANUQFININISANY )
o Education

- YSeygraontudad Tsu 9and

a LY

- - - o = « Bachelor’s Degree in Art, Rome, Ital
« UseyAaduaigia urinensedAaling s Y

- Ny o s a o £ A woa « Bachelor’s Degree in Fine Arts, Silpakorn University
o U3 n e Uadiananueng unnivetaefauing

- o a o o y « Honorary Doctorate Degree, Silpakorn Universit
o Usggunsinendedesiusivoiundng (e, 29) Y s P Y

v « Certificate, Class 29, National Defense College
N1soUsSUUNUINIIa:KUINNSSUNIS
« vianansusenalledng

Director Accreditation Program (DAP juﬁl 26/2004)

Director Training Program
» Certificate, Director Accreditation Program
dunAudsasuantunssunsusEnlne (DAP Class 26/2004), Institute of Director

Us:zaunisninnu Work Experience

2001-Present Director, Sahaviriya Plate Mill Plc.
1999-2013 Director, Prachuap Port Co., Ltd.
1999-2013  Director, Sahaviriya Steel Industries Plc.
1999-2011 Director,

2544-Jaq0u N33UNNS

USEN avlsemanila 91An (UnAv)

2542-2556  ATIUNNT USEW vi1i5aUsEIU 911A
2542-2556  ATIUNTT

USEN @NISLIERADUAGRT 109 (W)
2542-2554  nN3INAT

West Coast Engineering Co., Ltd.

o oz o Y Criminal offense record during the past 10 years: None
UIwen L’Jﬁ‘ﬂﬂ’d‘ﬂ FDUALUYIN 707

Js:annasns:rananqruislus:e: 10 U dounau :-laifl-
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T99UILHUNTTUNNT

NITUNITNTIVADU WA NTTUNIDATY

918 76 U
AUANNUSVIATOUATITENINNTINANSA8AY - 1aT-
Smdiifunssunis : 16 9
dnehunisteviuluuien -lug-

ANUQAINIINNSANYN

« USgyaynln anvnusvnsgsig

University of Wisconsin-Madison, U.S.A.

« USeyeyeissgenansUnudin

(Reshtuudusu 2) PaensalunInedy

« UszmafleUnsinuimsseiugs

(uua .1 Juil 18) dtfnan .

. 1Jsxmﬂﬁaﬁm‘g’uqﬂmsﬁmimﬂ%’gLLazﬂgwmawwu
(Usu.2) anndunszuning

« Yszmafletinsduganailesnsunases
Tuszuaulsyedulneg (UUs.14) aaTunszunind
nMsausuUUNUINIIa:KinANSSUNNS

- nangnsUszMailedng

Director Accreditation Program (DAP $uil 26/2004)
aupuduasuanITuNITIATUIE Ing

- nangnsUsznAtiedasanidunssunisuTening
Director Certification Program (DCP Sq'u‘ﬁ' 101/2008)
aupuduasuanITUNITUATUI I Ing
Js:zaunisniniu

2550-U3q0u  N35UNNINTIVEDY

Y3E¥ @isennanda 9100 (UnIwu)

2548-2551  nssuMsEnTInadlanuseninlsene
Wens@uazIRRL (93nTumL)

2546-2551  gmnnwaunulueaningauniatayan
WaEN1SANSEIINSUTENA

2547-2547  HRTI9TYN1INTENTNINYE (56U 10)
25452547  fiUsnwnismdudsesu 10
2543-2544  T9908UANTUANLESNNITEREN
NIENTHNAE

2539-2543  $9485UANTULRTINNIIAIENINUTEIA
NIENTWNUYE

Us=amnasns:riannqruielus:zo: 10 U dounav -laifi-

T T T e T T T T

Mr. Charin Hansuebsai

Vice Chairman

Audit Committee and Independent Director

Age 76 years

Family Relation among Management: None
Tenure: 16 years

Shareholding Equity: None

Education

« Master’s Degree in Business Administration,
University of Wisconsin-Madison, U.S.A.
 Bachelor’s Degree in Political Science

(Second honors), Chulalongkorn University

« High-level Executive Certificate, Class 18,
Office of the Civil Service Commission

« Certificate of Government Organization Management
and Laws, Class 2, King Prajadhipok’s Institute

« Certificate Course in Politics and Governance in
Democratic Systems, Class 14,

King Prajadhipok’s Institute

Director Training Program

« Certificate, Director Accreditation Program
(DAP Class 26/2004), Institute of Directors

« Certificate, Director Certification Program
(DCP Class 101/2008), Institute of Directors

Work Experience

2007-Present Audit Committee,
Sahaviriya Plate Mill Plc.
2005-2007
International Institute for Trade

Director,

and Development

2003-2007  Associate Judge, Central Intellectual
Property and International Trade Court

2004-2004 Inspector (Level 10),

Ministry of Commerce

2001-2004  Advisor (Level 10),

Ministry of Commerce

2000-2001 Deputy Director General,

Export Promotion Department,
Ministry of Commerce

1996-2000
Business Economics Department,

Deputy Director General,

Ministry of Commerce

Criminal offense record during the past 10 years: None
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U19AUNSY Us:5INSY 3. Mr. Komkris Prachakris
YIZ5IUNTTUNITNTIVEDU Wag NITUNITDATY
91y 56 U

ANUFUNUSNI9ATBUASITENINNTTUNSARETY - laidl-

Chairman of the Audit Committee
and Independent Director

Age 56 years

Srundfidunssuns 9 Y Family Relation among Management: None
dnehunisteviuluuien -lug- Tenure: 9 year
ANUQAINIINISANYN Shareholding Equity: None
o YsgnmiatleUnsnsaeuld unine1dusssueans Education
« YS9 3UIMIS§Ina anunsUnyd - Diploma in Auditing, Thammasat University
UNINY IR TIUANLSAS « Bachelor’s Degree, Accounting,
nIseUsUUNUANIA:KUNANSSUNAS Ramkhamhaeng University
« vanansUsemalledns

Director Accreditation Program (DAP j‘u‘ﬁ 96/2012)

aunAuanasuan1TunssuNsUSEnlneg

Director Training Program
« Certificate, Director Accreditation Program
(DAP Class 96/2012), Institute of Directors

» MONGATUTMALEURS + Audit Committee Program (ACP Class 40/2012),

Audit Committee Program (ACP 3;14‘1'71' 40/2012)
aunAuanasuan1TunssuNsUSEnlneg

Institute of Directors

Work Experience

1997-Present Director,

Anakekij Phongtorn Komkris Co., Ltd.

Us=aunisnirivu
2540-U90u  nssunswagviudIudineu

a o a a o w
UIWN LB.W.LA BN 10N . .
1991-Present Managing Director,

Thammanat Co., Ltd.

2011-Present Chairman of the Audit Committee,
Sahaviriya Plate Mill Plc.

2011-2020 Director, B.S. Metal Co., Ltd.
2011-2020  Director,

2534-U930U  NIIUNISHANNS UTEN 5550W0 91110
2554-U390u  Usesunssun1snsivdey

UTEN andseunanila 3109 (nvw)

2554-2563  n3IUNNS USEW ea. wvia 911
2554-2563  NIIUNT

Ui avdevnded aefUeisdu $1in

2536-2540  NIIUNT

USE d1nau wawss Aunsy 9119

Sahaviriya Corporation Co., Ltd.
1993-1997 Director, Phongtorn Komkris Co., Ltd.

5 Criminal offense record during the past 10 years: None
Js:annasns:rinannnruislus:o: 10U dounde -1uidl -
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un9sdy wanduR

NITUNITNTIVEDU LA NTTUNTDATY

91y 64 U
AUANNUSIATOUATITENINNTINANTAI8AU ~1aT-
Fnnutidunssunng : 3 ¥
dndhunisteviuluuiey : L

ANUYFAINNNISANYY

o USayyln anvsguseaaumans Padnsalivine e
o USeuns @9IAmINTTUDaLs

NIV IUAIVAIUATUNT
nMseuUsLUNUINIa:KUNANSSUNTS

« ndngnsUssmatetnsandunssunsuieine
Director Certification Program (DCP Sq'uﬁ' 234/2017)
dunAndasuaa T unsINNNTUIIng

Us:=aunisninivau

2558-2559  1aU18N1SAUNNUNINTFIUNGN T
AAEINNTTY

2557-2558  HA3IDTIUNIINTENTHNOAAMNTTYU
NIENTIQAFNNTTY

2553-2557  sedeBURnINgRAMNIIAiugIuLAY
NSMIBILS NTENTIRRAMNTTY

2553 F99BUANSUAETUgRAMNTTY

NILNTNYNFMNTTY

2551-2553  f$runsnsdntinuivnsaainden
nugmanTIINUg LAY TVTTa T
2550-2551  ffgrunensdingugmannsuiiugiu
WarNISdeIusIUn 1 (davan)

Js:amnasns:rannqruislus:e: 10 U dounau :-laidl-

Mr.Tawat Polquamdee

Audit Committee and Independent Director
Age 64 years

Family Relation among Management: None
Tenure: 3 year

Shareholding Equity: None

Education

» Master Degree in Public Administration,
Chulalongkorn University

 Bachelor Degree in Mining Engineering,

Prince of Songkla University

Director Training Program
« Certificate, Director Certification Program
(DCP, Class 234/2017), Institute of Directors

Work Experience
2015-2016  Secretary General,
Industrial Standard Organization,
Ministry of Industries

2014-2015

2010-2014

Inspector, Ministry of Industries
Deputy Director General,
Department of Primary Industries and

Mines, Ministry of Industries

2010 Deputy Director General,
Department of Industrial Promotion,
Ministry of Industries

2008-2010  Director Bureau of Environmental
Management, Department of Primary

Industries and Mines

2007-2008  Director Office of Primary Industries

and Mines, Region 1 (Songkla)

Criminal offense record during the past 10 years: None
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unedu dSauUs:lwng

NITUNT bAE NTTUNTHUOUIIAIUUUNUUTEN

914 50 U
ANUENITUENIIATOUATISENININT SN SMEi -Lud-
Frundidunssums : 9 9

dndrunisheuluuium : Segaz 0.0000045
ANUYFAINNNISANYY

« UTyy1ln awuivnsgsna andudaudinusmisgsna
ARUNTLANTAINIAIINTINEAY

« US193 aNvIAINSIURAAINNIS
wninedeialey laifer Ysemediu
n1seUsSUUNUINIIA:HINANSSUNTS

- nangnsUssmalednsandunssunsuielne
Director Certification Program (DCP S;uﬁ 100/2008)
auenduasuan tunssunsuseive

« vanansUsENIAleUnTUTEEUNTINNTUTEN

(RCP §udl 20/2008)

auenduasuan tunssunsuseive

- néngasIneIMIaemY Juil 5
anUuIne1NInaInU

Js=aunsniniou

2542-0a0u  n3suNg

SN anisenadadunans 311n (i)
2547-0930U  n3sunsEAnnslviey

SN anisenadadunans 311n (i)
2560-U3q0u  n35UN3

UTEW andseinania 1in (W)

Js:amnasns:rannnruislus:e: 10 U dounau :-laifl-

Mr. Win Viriyaprapaikit

Director and Authorized Director

Age 50 years

Family Relation among Management: None
Tenure: 9 year

Shareholding Equity: 0.0000045%

Education

« M.B.A, Sasin Graduate Institute of Business
Administration, Chulalongkorn University

« Bachelor Industrial Engineering,

Keio University, Tokyo, Japan

Director Training Program

« Certificate, Director Certificate Program

(DCP, Class 100/2008), Institute of Directors

« The Role of the Chairman Program

(RCP Class 20/2008), Institute of Directors

« Capital Market Academy Leadership Program
(CMA 5), Capital Market Academy

Work Experience

1999-Present Director,

Sahaviriya Steel Industries Plc.

2004-Present President,

Sahaviriya Steel Industries Plc.

2017-Present Director, Sahaviriya Plate Mill Plc.

Criminal offense record during the past 10 years: None

16 Bangsaphan Barmill PLC.



ungwWd U Kav

NIUNTT UWaY NITUNTELSNIMUIULNIULTEN

91y 729
AMUAUITUENIIATEUATITENININTINNNSAREY - 1aT-
Frulidunssuns : 26 U

dneunsteviuluusey : Sevar 5.78 (Sudausa)
ANUQAININSANYN

« National Chai-Yi Commerce & Vocational

High School

ﬂ’]SOUSUUﬂU’lnIIa:Hl‘j']ﬁ:ﬂSSUﬂ']S :—lliﬁ—
Js:zaunisniniu

2543—{]‘-\]‘-qffu Director,

Yuanta United Steel Corporation

2543-2552 President,

Leh Ching Industrial Corporation
2546-2550  Supervisor,
Yuanta Core Pacific Securities

2543-2546
2535-2543

Director, Yuanta Core Pacific Securities
Supervisor, United Steel Corporation

Js:amnasns:rananqrunslus:e: 10 U dounau :-laiil-

Mr. Fang, Jin-Long

Director and Authorized Director

Age 72 years

Family Relation among Management: None
Tenure: 26 years

Shareholding Equity: 5.78% (including spouse’s stake)

Education
« National Chai-Yi Commerce & Vocational

High School

Director Training Program: None
Work Experience

2000-Present Director,

Yuanta United Steel Corporation
2000-2009  President,

Leh Ching Industrial Corporation
2003-2007  Supervisor,
Yuanta Core Pacific Securities
2000-2003

1992-2000

Director, Yuanta Core Pacific Securities
Supervisor, United Steel Corporation

Criminal offense record during the past 10 years: None
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UNgKA 198U K 7. Mr. Lee, Chien-Hung
NF5UNNT
918 50 U

ANMUAUNUTNIIATDUATITENININTSUNTAIETY - balTl-

Director

Age 50 years

Family Relation among Management: None
Fulfidunssuns : 14 ¥ Tenure: 14 years

Shareholding Equity: 6.42%

[ =

dnaunsteviuluuiey : Sevay 6.42

ATUIFAINNNISANYY

1

Education

» Master of Science in Engineering Business » Master of Science in Engineering Business

Management, The University of Warwick (UK) Managerment, University of Warwick (UK)

N1sauUsUUNUINIIa:KUNNNSSUNIS :—1lifl-

o Director Training Program : None
Us:zaunisniniu

2547-U30u  Project Manager, Work Experience

Heng Huei Construction Development 2004-Present Project Manager,

2544-2547  Sales Assistant Manager, Runtop Inc. Heng Huei Construction Development

— o = o - 1 2001-2004  Sales Assistant Manager, Runtop Inc.
Js=amnasns:riaannruislus:o: 10 U dounas :-lifi-

Criminal offense record during the past 10 years: None

18 Bangsaphan Barmill PLC.



ungoudn BuNnRNOUY

NITUNNT UAY NTTUNIRHOUIIAIUNUUNUUTEN

918 50 U
AMUAUITUSVNIIATOUATITENINNTINNNTIBAY - 1aT-

Frunudmdunssunis : 53

€

ndunTstevuluuIm : lud

D A

« U3

o

QUIINNNSFANW

el @1INIRAIN (N1ANTHIDINGY)
UNTINYIUEIINAERNT
« Usyay1ln enviesuganansssnag
anUulnNaIuUSIN SRS
o USquayeis @nvLasuganans (01nn1w8Ing)
UNTINYIUEIINAERNT
Jszaunisniniinu
2558-UaqUu  NITUNNSHIANNT
U3t 10a. 3. wea. reslawsdu $ain
2546-2558 (8 wien15E1euKNLIa MR
Usennguminanisen i

Js=amnasns:raannruielus:o: 10 U dounas :-lifi-

Mr. Anuwat Chaikittivanich

Director and Authorize Director

Age 50 years

Family Relation among Management: None
Tenure: 5 year

Shareholding Equity: None
Education

» Master Degree in Marketing (MIM) (English Program),
Thammasat University

« Master Degree, School Development of Economics
Business Economics Program, National Institute
Development Administration (NIDA)

+ Bachelor Degree (B.A.) in Economics

(English Program), Thammasat University

Work Experience

2015-Present Managing Director,
SVL Corporation Co., Ltd.
2003-2015  President-Corporate Planning,
Sahaviriya Steel Group Co., Ltd.

Criminal offense record during the past 10 years: None
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UNEKA 19z IK3U 9. Mr. Lee, Yeh-Wen

N33UNT, ﬂiiuﬂ’li@’ﬁﬁﬂmﬁladu’mt,muﬁﬁw Director, Authorize Director and Managing Director
WA NIIUNSHIANS

91y 63 U

Age 63 years
Family Relation among Management: None
AUANNUSIATOUATITENINNTINANTAI8AU ~1aif- Tenure: 24 years
Suutndunssuns : 24 ¥ Shareholding Equity: 2.81%
[ 1 & ¥ a o v
dndrunistenuluuivy : Sovay 2.81 .
| Education
ANUQAINIINISANYN

« St. John & St. Mary’s Institute Certificate

« St. John & St. Mary’s Institute Certificate

v Director Training Program
NIsoausuunuINiia=nuINNSSUNIS

« Certificate, Director Accreditation Program

(DAP Class 26/2004), Institute of Directors

. Mﬁﬂqmiﬂixﬂﬂﬂﬁaﬁmi Director Accreditation Program
(DAP il 26/2004)

P a o oo Work Experience
ﬁll’]ﬂllﬂﬂLﬁiuﬂﬂ’]UUﬂiiuﬂ’ﬁU§wV}1‘W8 P

. 1991-1994  Sales and Administration Manager,
Js=aunisnin1anu

2534-2537  {IANIHIEUIBLEYNITIANTT faiwan fron & Steel Manufacture

Taiwan Iron & Steel Manufacture Criminal offense record during the past 10 years: None

Js:amnasns:rindinnnrunelus:o: 10U doundq : -laifl -
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Board of Directors
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N
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X

wyANAslswu

WA WU 9
Plant Department Manager
Mr. Sheng, Chien-Hong

WIANS WynANIsuevg WYnAN1sueUE
thossms wesednd Ila:Nsu
12:N1S9ANS wiasnwdesh WAIRTIA Auadin
YN Fr31an (Snwinns) Sales Department Finance & Accounting
Administrative Manager Department Manager
Department Manager r. Veerasak Laoruksakiat Ms. Chatrawadee Kumsanit :
Mr. Thavee Jatchavala -
(Acting) ]
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S1YazIvYANALUZWUSHIS

Management’s Profile

UMK 19: IK3U

N35UNSEIANT

ANUQAINIINNSANYN

e St. John & St. Mary’s Institute Certificate

. Mﬁﬂ@@i Director Accreditation Program
(DAP uil 26/2004) asnAudsEHAATTUNTTUANS
viTning

Js:zaunsninu

2534-2537  {ian1sEevIeuaENITIANTS

Taiwan Iron & Steel Manufacture

andounnstioRuluusen : Seway 2.81

Mr. Lee, Yeh-Wen

Managing Director

Education

« St. John & St. Mary’s Institute Certificate

« Director Accreditation Program (DAP Class 26/2004),
Institute of Directors

Work Experience

1991-1994 Sales and Administration Manager,

Taiwan Iron & Steel Manufacture

Shareholding Equity: 2.81%

unend 8s91an

FRINTIUNMIHIANTT (UIUN3) U

$hwnsianIsIegINIskaENSIANTg

ANUYAINIINISANYN

o USgygywssgansanuduiusseninauseme
UMINGIAYIIUALNS

o Uszmatlatnsnisudmsinnisaielml
PANTAUN TN

Js:zaunsningu

2539-2562

2533-2562

dndounisfiouluusen : Seeaz 0.06

ASIUAS USEN Lod.D.7..:5059 911 A

ASIUNIT USEN UNNTTHARIUT 109

Mr. Thavee Jatchavala

Executive Deputy Managing Director

and Acting Administrative Department Manager

Education

» Bachelor’s Degree in International Affairs,
Ramkhamhaeng University

» Certificate, Modern Business Administration,
Chulalongkorn University

Work Experience

1996-2019

1990-2019

Shareholding Equity: 0.06%

Director, S.E.T. Trading Co., Ltd.
Director, Bang Phra Pattana Co., Ltd.

22 Bangsaphan Barmill PLC.



unedasm InAuluun
FRINTTUMIFIANTANeURYTUALNITRY UaE Lav1un1s
U

ANUQAINIINISANYN

 YSeuns @l umnInedusssuAans

o USuayln avnuimsesna uninedesssuenans
Js:zaumsninnu

2556-2557  304NTIUNTHIANTT
U ndlpavt uiidess s
2550-2555 Financial Controller

usEm Wl 8idnnsedlad aludu
(Uszndlng) 9119

2543-2549
UV Ludunua @m1se wous wailda

Adnn1sehednduims

Uszwalng) 311n
2538-2542

Usezwalng) 311n

HannsEheUayd uTem lulalsan

Mr. Sathit Kosinanondh
Deputy Managing Director Accounting
and Finance and Company Secretary
Education
« Bachelor’s Degree in Accounting,
Thammasat University
« Master’s Degree in Business Administration,
Thammasat University
Work Experience
2013-2014 Deputy Managing Director,
West Coast Engineering Co., Ltd.
2007-2012 Financial Controller,
Tyco Electronics Dulmison (Thailand) Co., Ltd.
2000-2006 Management Accounting Manager,
National Starch and Chemical (Thailand)
Co.,, Ltd.

1995-1999 Accounting Manager, Motorola

dndounisiioAuluusen : - (Thailand) Co., ltd.
Shareholding Equity: -
ungIdu 9 Ao Mr. Chen,Wu-Hua
iaﬂﬂiiumiﬁﬁhmi Deputy Managing Director
ANQAINIINISANYN Education

« Ming Xin Industrial College (Taiwan)
Js:zaunasniniu

2539-2552  gaansigliesny
USUN U9dgIuUIsTa 310m (W)
2536-2539  §AAN13 Sino-Holic Co,, Ltd.

dndounstiofuluussn : Sesay 0.06

« Ming Xin Industrial College (Taiwan)
Work Experience
1996-2009 Plant Department Manager,
Bangsaphan Barmill Public Co., Ltd.
1993-1996

Shareholding Equity: 0.06%

Manager, Sino-Holic Co., Ltd.

Annual Report 2020 23



UNe3s:ANG InaSnuIRush
HAnnsEeuny
ANUYAINIINISANYN

o YTy w3 @191n190a1n ANINeSudaduTy
Js:zaunsninu

2543-2547  39HIANSENEUY
UEN Usagnuunsila e
2539-2543  HAANSULHUAUIY

USYN UN9EENIUUISHa 91100

dndounisiioAuluusen : -

Mr. Veerasak Laoruksakiat

Sales Department Manager

Education

« Bachelor’s Degree in Marketing,
Assumption University

Work Experience

2000-2004 Deputy Sales Department Manager,
Bangsaphan Barmill Co., Ltd.

1996-2000 Sales Section Manager,

Bangsaphan Barmill Co., Ltd.

Shareholding Equity: -

Ung 139 198U K

fann1sehelsany

ANUQFAINNISANYY

 China Juntop Institute Technology and Commerce

Js:=aunasnininu

2542-2552  s0uIa gl
USEN U9@zuUIstia 310m (W)
2541-2542  {AURIANTT

Samsung Heavy industry

dndounnsiioruluusen : -

Mr. Sheng, Chien-Hong

Plant Department Manager

Education

» China Juntop Institute Technology and Commerce

Work Experience

1999-2009 Deputy Plant Department Manager,
Bangsaphan Barmill Public Co., Ltd.

1998-1999 Assistance Camp Manager,

Samsung Heavy industry

Shareholding Equity: -

24 Bangsaphan Barmill PLC.



UNE10aNSIR AUEUN 7. Ms. Chatrawadee Kumsanit

HannsEheUnyiuazn1sty Finance & Accounting Department Manager
ANUQAINIINISANYN Education

« USyyns @1 sUey® Unnineaesssuaans « Bachelor’s Degree in Accounting,

Jszaunisniniinu Thammasat University

2549 - 2558  s9uInNsEhe T uarn1sty Work Experience

2006-2015 Deputy Finance & Accounting

[

USUN UNNEEINIUUISEA 9100 (LABU)
dndounisiioAuluusen : - Department Manager

Shareholding Equity: -
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Vioyanolu

Bousin USBN ua:wauulsiua 911m (UKsU)
anzieuuIEnm 0107547000702

AnwaLNIsUsENaUTINY nanwazvewandunauwazmdndutedes
dinaulng 28/1 91A15UTENING Fu 8 nuUATANG uvdsda lwauedn

NFANNUNIUAT 10500
Insfny 0 2630 0590-5
115615 0 2236 6995-6
59911 8 myfl 7 auuthunasun-enenasey suausi$iie Suneusagy
JamInUsyauAsTUS 77140
Insfnv 0 3254 8384-9
15615 0 3254 8392

Website www.bsbm.co.th

NuaaneLley U 1,121,175000  uwm
wiseanituuandsy T 1,121,175,000  4fu
yaenfinsl¥uas .00 um
NUGITEUED 91U 1,121,175,000  um
wiseanituuandsy I 1,121,175,000  4ju
yariins3uas 1.00  um
UANadIBY

YENLDYUNANNTNG

- Yiuansley U3EN Audsurhnudnning (Usewelne) 91iin
93 aUUSYANALEN UYNAUUAY WARULAS NTUVNUMIUAT 10400
g E
Hapudayd WNANBATINTA JanTey e
HapuUndsuauymawneiley 7480
U3EM d1idneu 8 21e e
H11 33 p1miaRTA 193/136-137
auNSYMALEN AFBUAY NTLNNUMIUAT 10110
AIVATGLYT] -
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General Information

Name

Company Registration No.

Type of Business

Head office

Factory office

Website
Registered Capital
Consisting of

Par Value

Paid-up Capital
Consisting of

Par Value

Other Reference Persons

Share Registrar

- Ordinary Shares

- Debentures

Auditor

Bangsaphan Barmill Public Company Limited

0107547000702
A producer of round steel bars and deformed steel bars
8" Floor, Prapawit Bldg., 28/1 Surasak Road, Silom
Bangrak, Bangkok 10500
Tel. 0 2630 0590-5
Fax. 0 2236 6995-6
8 Moo 7 Banklangna-Yaiploy Road, T.Maeramphueng
Bangsaphan, Prachuabkirikhan 77140
Tel. 0 3254 8384-9
Fax. 0 3254 8392
www.bsbm.co.th
1,121,175,000  Baht
1,121,175,000 Shares
1.00  Baht
1,121,175,000  Baht
1,121,175,000 Shares
1.00  Baht

Thailand Securities Depository Company Limited

93 Ratchadaphisek Road, Dindaeng, Bangkok 10400
Ms. Isaraporn Wisutthiyan

Certified Public Accountant (Thailand) No. 7480

E Y office Limited

33rd Floor, Lake Rajada Office Complex, 193/136-137
Rajadapisek Road, Klongtoey, Bangkok 10110

Debenture Holders’ Representative -
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Nature of Business

Bangsaphan Barmill Public Company Limited was established on 11 November 1994, with Baht 600 million initial reg-
istered capital. At present, its fully paid registered capital (as of 31 December 2020) was at Baht 1,121.1 million, consisting
of 1,121.1 million ordinary shares at Baht 1 per share par value. The production plant is in Bangsaphan District, Prachuab-
khirikhan province. It received promotional privileges from the Board of Investment, promotional privilege approval No.
1186/2538 issued on 30 March 1995. The Company’s major development and progress are as follows:

November 1994 The Company was registered on November 11, 1994 with Baht 600 million initial registered capital to
operate hot-rolled steel bars production business.

March 1995 The Board of Investment granted promotional privilege to the Company for its round bars and deformed
bars production.

October 2001 The Company was granted 1SO 9001:2000 certification.

January 2005 The Company made an initial public offering. And the Stock Exchange of Thailand approved the Com-
pany’s shares to be listed on the SET.

April 2005 The first annual shareholders” meeting was held after being a listing company. The meeting approved
dividend payment of Baht 0.05 per share.

December 2005 The Company was granted ISO 14001:2004 certification.

August 2006 The Board of Directors’ Meeting approved the payment of interim dividend for the year 2006 at the rate
Baht 0.10 per share.

April 2007 The Annual Shareholders’ Meeting was approved final dividend payment of Baht 0.10 per share.

August 2007 The Board of Directors’ Meeting approved the payment of interim dividend for the year 2007 at the rate
Baht 0.06 per share.

April 2008 The Annual Shareholders’ Meeting was approved final dividend payment of Baht 0.12 per share.

August 2008 The Board of Directors’ Meeting approved the payment of interim dividend for the year 2008 at the rate
Baht 0.18 per share.

September 2009 Received the “Certificate of Good Governance in Environmental Management” from the Ministry of
Industry.

April 2010 The Annual Shareholders’ Meeting was approved final dividend payment of Baht 0.08 per share.

August 2010 The Board of Directors’ Meeting approved the payment of interim dividend for the year 2010 at the rate
Baht 0.06 per share.

September 2010 Received the “Certificate of Good Governance in Environmental Management” for the second year.

October 2010 The Company was granted 1SO 9001:2008 certification.

April 2011 The Annual Shareholders’ Meeting was approved final dividend payment of Baht 0.06 per share.

August 2011 The Board of Directors’ Meeting approved the payment of interim dividend for the year 2011 at the rate
Baht 0.06 per share.

April 2012 The Annual Shareholders’ Meeting was approved final dividend payment of Baht 0.02 per share.

August 2013 The Board of Directors’ Meeting approved the payment of interim dividend for the year 2013 at the rate
Baht 0.03 per share.

April 2014 The Annual Shareholders’ Meeting was approved final dividend payment of Baht 0.05 per share.

August 2014 The Board of Directors’ Meeting approved the payment of interim dividend for the year 2014 at the rate
Baht 0.03 per share.

August 2016 The Board of Directors’ Meeting approved the payment of interim dividend for the year 2016 at the rate
Baht 0.08 per share.

February 2017 The Company was granted ISO 9001:2015 certification.

February 2017 The Company was granted ISO 14001:2015 certification.

April 2017 The Annual Shareholders’ Meeting was approved final dividend payment of Baht 0.06 per share.

August 2017 The Board of Directors’ Meeting approved the payment of interim dividend for the year 2017 at the rate
Baht 0.06 per share.

April 2018 The Annual Shareholders” Meeting was approved final dividend payment of Baht 0.05 per share.

August 2018 The Company had been certified as a member of Thailand’s Private Sector Collective Action Coalition
Against Corruption (CAC)

April 2019 The Annual Shareholders’ Meeting was approved final dividend payment of Baht 0.03 per share.

November 2019 The Board of Directors’ Meeting approved the payment of interim dividend for the year 2019 at the rate
Baht 0.04 per share.

December 2019 The Board of Directors meeting of the Company passed a resolution to repurchase the Company’s share
(Treasury stock) for financial management purposes in the maximum amount of Baht 11.5 million, which
is equivalent to a number of shares to be repurchased up to 11,325,000 shares, or 1% of the paid-up
share capital of the Company. The share repurchase will come into during 10 January to 9 July 2020.

March 2020 The Company repurchase a total of 11,325,000 shares. So, the Company ended such share repurchase program.
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August 2020 The Board of Directors’ Meeting approved the payment of interim dividend for the year 2020 at the rate
Baht 0.04 per share.

November 2020 The Board of Directors meeting of the Company passed a resolution to resell all of 11,325,000 repurchased
shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange of Thailand. The resale period was from 24 November to
26 November 2020. In case the Company had repurchased shares that were not resold within the resale
period, the Company would reduce the registered and paid-up share capital by cancelling all of these
shares.

December 2020 The Company registered capital reduction and paid-up share capital of the Company with the Ministry
of Commerce. The capital reduction was made by cancelling 11,325,000 shares that were repurchased
but not resold.

The Company’s core products are steel bars for construction. It produces round steel bars according to Thai Industrial
Standard 20-2543 with diameters ranging form 6 to 25 mm, 10 meters in length, and in SR24 grade. Its deformed steel bars
are produced according to Thai Industrial Standard 24-2548, with diameters ranging form 10 to 40 mm, 10 and 12 meters
in length, and in SD30, SD40 and SD50 grades. The Company’s steel bar products are major raw materials in concrete
building structure.

Revenue Structure
(unit: million Baht)

2018 2019 2020
Product
Amount % Amount % Amount %
1. Deformed Bar 1,197.78 53.32 981.58 47.32 706.62 44.95
2. Round Bar 1,031.16 45.90 1,086.38 52.37 834.91 53.12
3. Scrap 17.61 0.78 6.56 0.32 30.30 1.93
Total Revenue from sale 2,246.55 100.00 2,074.52 100.00 1,571.83 100.00

In terms of steel bar sales, round steel bar sales became accounting majority of the Company total sales reve-
nues, by its continuous increasing. This has reflected the Company’s sale policy of focusing in products that have less
competition but generate higher margin. Such products are small-diameter round steel bar.

Major raw materials are billets. The length to be used is six meters with cross section ranging from 100X100 mm.
to 150X150 mm. They are imported from various countries including the previous Soviet Union Countries, Turkey, for
example. The Company majorly uses billets produced from iron ore. Such these billets have consistent quality stan-
dard, enabling the Company to efficiently control and minimize production waste. With the use of Thermo Mechanical
Treatment (TMT) in the production process, the Company can enhance the properties of steel to a more solid and the
use of air cooling system via cooling bed in its production line ensures the consistent steel quality through to the core.

With product quality and production process as its top priority, the Company has received industrial standard
certification as well as ISO 9001:2015. Such international standard certifications earned the Company a great recognition
from buyer and people in the construction industry.

The company’s key target customers comprise of two groups as follow:

« Distributors: large-scale distributors with high volume purchase orders account for 90 percent of the total
purchase orders. Most of them place orders on monthly basis. They have been the Company’s customers for
a long time and have strong relationship with the Company.

 Retailers, retailers, contractors and real estate developers: The Company adopts a special trade policy on this
group of customers by paying close attention to payment terms. This group of customers causes high adminis-
trative expenses but the Company can generate higher selling prices.

The company’s key strategies are as follow:

o Offering a variety of types and sizes of product to meet with diverse market demand and providing maximum
convenience by being its one-stop-shop for customers.

e Maintenance its ongoing-reputation as a quality product manufacturer.

* Being punctual and speedy in product delivery.

« Setting appropriate prices considering market condition and competition.

Building and strengthening good relations with distributors.
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Industrial Situation and Competition

Overview of the Steel Bars Industry in Thailand

There are several steel bars manufacturers in Thailand. Most of them do not have the high production capac-
ity and are mainly located in the central and eastern regions of the country. The usages of steel bar in Thailand
are mostly in line with the usages of cement or concrete in the construction industry. Therefore, it relies on the
factors that support the construction sector, which are the significant indicators of consumer demand. Since steel
bar is one of the commodity products that the consumers do not find the difference from each manufacturer,
therefore, the competition is mainly focuses on the price. Especially in Thai market nowadays, there are a lot of
excess production capacities over the domestic demand that makes the competition more intense.

Demand for Steel Bars

Most of the steel bars are mainly produced for domestic consumption. The impacts are then from various
factors effecting domestic construction sector e.g. government policies on infrastructure, irrigation and transportation,
private sector’s investment, real estate sector expansion, etc. Moreover, the seasonality also has the impact on
the consumption volume as well i.e. rainy season has an impact on the construction work, resulting in a decreasing

consumption of steel bars.

In 2020, the world has faced with the COVID-19 pandemic that adversely affected the global economy.
Meanwhile, the domestic economy has also been adversely affected by COVID-19 as the state’s need to take
lockdown measures to halt the spread of the virus. Tourism and industrial sectors were force shut down the
operation. Although the government has tried to take the measures to stimulate the economy, Thai economy as
a whole is still shrinking more than 6 percent. For the situation of world steel, the steel prices is still volatile as
the steel prices were stabilized in the first half of the year before continuing to rise in the second half of 2020.
Moreover, the steel bar industry which is the Company’s major product was shrunk from the previous year as the
domestic steel consumption reduced by more than 12% in 2020.

Domestic consumption volume of steel bar (Thousand tons) 2,238 2,546 2,445

Growth rate (%) =121 33 -6.4
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Production Capacity

As mentioned earlier, the overall domestic production capacity from the large number of manufacturers
in the industry is far higher than the demand in the country. Barrier to enter into this industry is considerably
low as the investment required for the construction of steel bar factory is not too high and the production
technology is easy to acquire. Considering the level of expansion in steel bar consumption over the recent
years, the existing domestic production capacity can respond to the domestic consumption demand for the
next several years. Thailand has taken some safeguards to prevent the import of steel bars from abroad through
the non-tariff measures. All the steel bars distributed in the country must first be certified by Thai Industrial
Standards (TIS) under Thai industrial Standards institute (TISI).

The raw material cost represents a high proportion of the total steel bar cost. The cost of billets (main
raw material), ready for rolling, is accounted for more than 80% of the selling price. Thereby, the change in
raw material price significantly affects the business profitability. Sufficient raw material procurement in a timely
basis and at the competitive costs can generate good profits to the Company. In the meantime, selling price
is determined by the market mechanism which is not significantly different from other competitors. The main
raw material used for producing steel bars, billet, acquired either locally from smelting scraps then casting into
billets or imported from abroad (both from smelting scraps and producing from iron ores in the blast furnace).

Competition

Steel bar is the controlled product under industrial standards. Therefore, both quality and properties
of the products are not much different. Competition in the industry is mainly focuses on pricing strategy. In
the high competition environment, pricing strategy may concentrate more on liquidity management than the
profit per unit. However, maintaining the good relationship with the trading partners is regarded as a significant
marketing strategy for those in the industry as well, apart from maintaining the quality standards, reliability

on delivery and payment.

In 2020, the steel industry is in a fluctuating direction according to the world steel price situation. The
average selling price of steel bar has decreased from last year and the average cost of billet has also decreased
in the same direction. As a result, the gap between the selling price and the cost of the billet fluctuated as
well, making it difficult for the manufacturer to make profit margins per unit. Therefore, each manufacturer
had rushed the ordering process of raw material to produce the products as quickly as possible in order to
be sold in the highest volume. However, the world steel price was still fluctuate and unpredictable, it was

necessary to carefully manage the ordering process, stock of raw material and cost of sales.
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Risk Factors

Risk from the fluctuation of steel prices

Steel products are considered as one of the commodity which is sensitive to the price like other commodities
such as oil, coal and metals. Billets, the main raw material which accounted for approximately 90 % of the cost of
goods are mostly imported. Generally, the current trading market transactions are executed at the spot price and
goods are shipped by sea freight from the manufacturers in various continents. It takes around up to 3 months for
shipping the imported billets for further production. During the period between the booking date and the billet
received date, and until the steel bars have been produced (via hot rolling process) and distributed, prices of steel
may vary from the previous forecast. This is the most direct risk that effects the Company’s operating performance.
However, recently there is an effort to develop financial tools to protect or compensate the risk namely forward
contracts such as in the London Metal Exchange or other forms of derivative which may be used as tool for risk
protection in the future. Moreover, the Company has developed and enacted a risk management strategy for com-
modity price risk and its mitigation. The Company mainly hedges the purchase price by sourcing the billet from
domestic sources by ordering the small quantities in accordance with the production plan and sales forecast of
each month. However, the Company will purchase the big lots of billet from abroad when the price is reasonable.

Throughout the time, the Company committed to build the strong relationship with the worldwide distrib-
utors of billets to secure the supply of raw material at the fair price and fast delivery. Moreover, the Company
planned to purchase the raw material in line with the domestic demand for steel in order to keep inventories at
the appropriate level to reduce the risk of such price change. In addition, the Company is seeking for domestic

billet sources to help ensure the smooth and continuous production.

Risk from the excess supply and price competition

Due to the overall domestic production capacity from the large number of manufacturers is far higher than the
demand in the country therefore most of the manufacturers utilize their capacity at the low level. The low volume
of production causes inefficient and high production cost, so that it is necessary for each of them to produce in
at least more than the break-even point. This creates over supply in the market and price cutting is unavoidable
strategy. In some interval during economic slowdown and demand contraction, some manufacturers of steel bars

may have to sell at the price lower than others and even below their costs due to their cash flow necessities.

Based on the above reasons, the Company has to adapt itself by expanding its production lines to produce
round steel bars with diameter of 6-9 mm which have low competition and requires higher production technology,
skill and investment but earn higher profit margin. The production and sale of this product have commenced since
late 2004. However, Company has completed the installation of machinery to enhance the production process of
deformed steel bars in 2015. With this upgrade production process, the Company can produce and expand the
market for the deformed steel bars sales.

As a result, the Company becomes the manufacturer of all ranges of size and quality of steel bars, which are
currently in demand. Moreover, Company’s production lines can be adjusted to produce some sizes of black shaft

for usage in mechanical industry and integrated industries.

The importation of steel bars is limited by non-tariff barrier because the imported steel bars are forced to get
the quality certification from the Thailand Industrial Standards Institute before sales distribution. However, such
measures can protect domestic manufacturers to a certain extent only because there are still cheap steel bars
imported from abroad.
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Risk from the fluctuation of the foreign exchange rate

Using imported billet as a key raw materials, the Company has trade payable in foreign currency. Thus, the
Company faced the risk from the fluctuating foreign rate comparing the rate on the date that the Company agreed
to order the raw materials and the date that the Company had to pay for the products. That means the costs in
Thai Baht are subjected to fluctuate at the order date (while the Company sells its products locally in Thai Baht)
and causing the managing of the metal spread even more complicated.

The Company realizes the importance of stability in the management of foreign exchange risk effectively,
especially in circumstances where the Baht is more fluctuating. Therefore, the Company implemented the tight
policy to limit its risk from foreign currency by engaging in forward contract or conversing the obligation for raw
material into Thai Baht as soon as possible. The Company has a revolving credit facilities with a commercial bank in
the form of foreign currency and Thai Baht. However, in 2020 the Company ordered most of billet from domestic

and had no debt in foreign currency as at 31 December 2020.
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Significant Changes

Production and sales of Special line

The aggressive competition in the steel bar industry is due to excessive capacity while most of the consumers
view that the products of each manufacturer are not significantly different. Therefore, competition is mainly on
pricing strategy. Considering the existing production potential and raw materials procurement, the Company focuses
on the products with fewer manufacturers and lower competition in comparison with other general products. The
Company has gained a processing cost advantage from the investment in the Special line since 2004. Gross profit
margin from this Special line is higher than other product lines, while increasing production capacity and market
expansion can be done consistently. However, the Company realizes the limitations of this Special Line market
that its consumption is limited. As the Company’s target is to increase its market share, thus, the focus in increasing
only the Special line sales is not enough to meet that target. In 2015, the Company had the project to improve the
production line and increased the sales of Normal Line products, both round bars and deformed bars. However,
revenue from the sales of the Special Line was still at 21.5% of the total sales at end of 2020.

The proportion of sales from this special line for the past 3 years is shown below:

Proportion (% of total sales) 2020 2019 2018

Steel Bar from Special Line 215 20.3 16.3

Production Based on Trading Alliance’s Demand

Due to the excessive production capacity, in 2012, the Company entered into a joint business contract with one
alliance by producing steel bars under the alliance’s brand which was well known and credible in term of quality.
By this transaction, the Company expected that it would not only increase sales and revenues, but also helped
increasing the production capacity utilization and leading to the economy of scale. Furthermore, this alliance has
a high level of financial reliability. Therefore, the increase in sales volume from this transaction incurs a low risk
from payment collection.

The Company can build up the confidence with this trading alliance from time to time in terms of the quality
of products, reasonable price, fast and punctual in delivery. Therefore, this alliance has increased the volume of
orders and the sizes of the steel bar produced. As a result, the proportion of the sales from this alliance has been
increased over the past two years as shown in the below table:

Proportion (% of total sales) 2020 2019 2018

Steel Bar under the Trading Alliance’s Brand 42.8 36.8 39.5
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3 to 5 Years Goal

Profitability and Dividend

The Company’s goals within the next 3-5 years will focus on maintaining profitability and ability to pay dividend
to the shareholders consistently in compliance with the Company’s dividend policies. Moreover, the Company has

to continually maintain the current strong financial position by implementing the following policies:
« Manage risks appropriately, especially the risk of steel price fluctuation and foreign exchange rate risk.

« Offering a variety of types and sizes of product to meet with diverse market demand and providing maximum

convenience by being its one-stop-shop for customers.
» Focus on good profit margin products with a few manufacturers.
« Maintain the good relationship with the suppliers and increase the raw material procurement channels.

« Implement the appropriate marketing strategies, avoid price competition, etc.

Sales Volume and Market Share

The Company realizes the importance of increasing the sales volume and market share and therefore sets up
policies to maintain a good balance between making good profit margin and increasing the sales volume. In 2020
the Company can maintained the sales value at the same level as the previous year while the overall steel market
was still volatile. This was due to the sales strategy that offer the variety of type and sizes of the products for both
round steel bars and deformed steel bars in order to meet the customers’ demand. As a result, the Company can
maintained the market share of the steel bars sales at 5% in 2020 during COVID-19 pandemic.

The Company has set the sales volume growth target in 2021 at 20% from the previous year and increase its
market share to 6%.

Production

The Company has managed the production plan at the appropriate level and in line with the sales forecast.
Although the higher capacity utilization will allow the economy of scales to reduce the fixed cost per unit but
the current rate of the capacity utilization of the Company is still in relatively low level comparing to the existing
capacity. The current capacity can accommodate the increase in production volume in several folds without the
additional investment.

However, the Company has planned to continuously improve its production process and the quality of product.
In 2015, the Company has carried out the installation of machinery to enhance the properties of hardness steel.
With an investment of Baht 50 million, the Company can reduced the material costs and increased the efficiency
in the production process of the deformed bar. This project was completed in late 2015 and the Company can

produced and increased the sales of deformed steel bars.
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Dividend Payment Policy

The Company’s dividend payment policy is strictly based on maximum long-term benefits for shareholders.

Details are as follows:

1. The Company has a policy to regularly pay dividend at 40-60 per cent of annual net profit under conditions
set by the laws.

2. In case the Company needs large capital for business expansion, the Company may pay dividend lower than
the rate mentioned above. On the other hand, if the Company does not need it, the Company may pay
dividend higher than the rate mentioned above as deemed appropriate. Shareholders’ long-term benefits

are key factors in making decision on dividend payment.

Dividend payment must not have significant impact on the Company’s general operation. Factor affecting
dividend payment are business performance, financial status, liquidity, business expansion plan, the Company’s
debt service and other factors related to the Company’s business operations. Dividend payment must be approved

by the Board of Directors and/or shareholders’ meeting, depending on the case may be.
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Shareholders and Management

Shareholders

Top-10 list of major shareholders, shown with their ultimate shareholders as of 23 January 2021 are in an

exhibit below.

Shareholder Name No. of Shares % of Shareholding

1.

SO | NECIN | NER O RS O iR

._\
©

Viriyaprapaikit Group
Mr. Piya Viriyaprapaikit

Mrs. Kanokvipa Viriyaprapaikit

Mr. Win Viriyaprapaikit

Mr. Lee, Chih-Tsung

Mr. Lee, Chien-Hung

Thai NVDR Co., Ltd.

Mr. Fang, Jin-Long

Mr. Lee, Yeh-Wen

Mrs. Fang Lee, Fong-Chiao
Mrs. Cheng, Wei-Fang

Mr. Vachira Thayanaraporn
Mr. Fang, Wen-Hung

Mr. Fang, Yuan-Hong

478,625,590
248,250,010
230,375,530

50
81,000,000
72,000,000
62,098,200
36,000,000
31,500,000
28,800,000
22,500,000
22,400,000
21,600,000
21,600,000

42.69
22.14
20.55
0.00
7.22
6.42
5.54
3.21
2.81
2.57
2.01
2.00
1.93
1.93
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Management

Management Structure
Management of the Company composes of Board of Directors, Audit Committee, and Executives.

Board of Directors
As of 31 December 2020, member of the Board of Directors consisted of 9 persons:

Number of director who is also an executive 1
Number of directors who are not executives 4
Number of independent director 4

The names of the Board of Directors are as follows:

1. Mr. Taweesak Senanarong Chairman, Independent Director

2. Mr. Charin Hansuebsai Vice Chairman, Independent Director
3. Mr. Komkris Prachakris Independent Director

4. Mr. Win Viriyaprapaikit Director

5. Mr. Tawat Polquamdee Independent Director

6. Mr. Fang, Jin-Long Director

7. Mr. Lee, Chien-Hung Director

8. Mr. Anuwat Chaikittivanich Director

9. Mr. Lee, Yeh-Wen Managing Director

Number and Qualifications of Independent Director

« Board of Directors must comprise of Independent Directors in at least one-thirds of total number of Directors

but shall not be less than 3 persons.
« Independent Directors mean Directors that have the following qualifications:

1. Independent Director shall hold shares in the amount not exceeding 1 percent of total shares with full
voting rights of the Company, subsidiaries, associated companies or legal entity that might have conflict of

interest including shares held by the related persons according to Clause 258 of the SEC Act.

2. Independent Director shall not be Managing Director, staff, employee, permanent advisor and person who
has power to control the Company, parent company, subsidiaries, associated companies, subsidiary or legal
entity that has potential conflict of interest.

3. Independent Director shall has no blood relation or legal relation as parent, spouse, sibling and offspring
including spouse of offspring with the Executives, major shareholder, person who has power to control or

person who is nominated as the Executives or person who has power to control the Company or subsidiaries.
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4. Independent Director may have Business relations with the Company

(a) Type of relation

 Relation in form of professional services

Types of relation: Auditor, other professional services such as legal advisor, financial advisor,
property appraiser and etc.

Significant level that is considered not independence
Auditor : Not allowed in all cases

Other professional services : exceeding Baht 2 million p.a. per contract

« Trade relation/Business relation (use guidelines similar to regulations on related party transaction
of SET).

Type of relation: covering all types of business transactions such as normal trading transactions,
rental contracts, property leases, asset/service related transactions and transaction of granting

or receiving financial assistance.

Significant level that is considered not independence: Transaction amount is equal to Baht 20
million or more or at least 3% of net tangible assets (NTA) of the Company or more whichever
is lower. Total transactions include transactions took place during the period of 6 months prior
to this transaction date.

(b) In case of relation according to (a) with legal entity or person that is considered not independence

such as major shareholder and MD.

(c) Prohibited period of relations according to (a) and (b): 2 years prior to the appointment and at present.

(d) Exception: In case it is necessary and appropriate but not regular and continuous. Independent

Director/Director of Audit Committee may have relation exceeding the significant level while he/she

is steel in the office but it requires prior approval from the Board of Directors by unanimous votes.

5. Independent Director shall not be appointed as the representative of the Board of Directors, major shareholder

or shareholder relating to the major shareholder.

6. Independent Director shall have no characteristic, which does not enable it to express the opinion

independently.

7. Independent Director having qualifications according to No.1-6 above mentioned may be assigned by the

Board of Directors to make joint decision in the operations of the Company, parent company, subsidiaries,

associated companies, subsidiary in the same level or legal entity that may have conflict of interest through

the collective decision.

Authorized Directors

1. Mr. Win Viriyaprapaikit Director

2. Mr. Fang, Jin-Long Director

3. Mr. Anuwat Chaikittivanich Director

4. Mr. Lee, Yeh-Wen Managing Director

For any signing of autograph for binding the Company in any transaction, two of four signatures of the authorized

directors are required together with the Company’s seal.

The Company Secretary appointed by the Board of Directors is Mr. Sathit Kosinanondh, who is also responsible

for the secretary to the Board of Directors.
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Scope of Authority and Responsibility of the Board of Directors

1.

10.

11.

12.

Designate the Company’s vision mission and business policy to bring about stability, balanced benefit of

all concerns, and maximize benefit of shareholders.

Consider and approve the Company’s business plan, strategy and budget, as well as follow up the

Executives, which operation reports are submitted in a regular basis.

Consider and advise of change in organization structure, policy and human resource plan.
Supervise the Company’s internal control and risk management systems.

Supervise the Company’s internal and external auditing process to ensure their efficiency.

Consider and approve the quarterly and yearly financial statements to ensure compliant with generally
certified accounting principles.

Devote themselves and their time to the Company. Seek no benefit for oneself or any particular person
and do nothing that is against the Company’s benefit or competes with the Company’s businesses.

Manage the Company’s business to comply with laws, the Company’s objectives, and regulations to preserve
the Company’s benefit. Ensure the Company’s business practices, especially for connected transactions
and inside information, are strictly in line with the regulations of the Stock Exchange of Thailand and the
Securities and Exchange Commission.

Create corporate governance and good practices as a listed company in the Stock Exchange of Thailand.

Protect the benefit of both major and minor shareholders with justice. Report accurate Company’s

information transparently to shareholders.

Promote ethics among employees at all levels with closely monitoring for results, in order to prevent

malpractice, abuse of authority and illegal actions.

To bring about close supervision of the Company’s operations, the Board of Directors could authorize
directors, subcommittee, person or legal entity to undergo tasks as assigned by the board jointly together
or separately. Any authorization must be under the legally specified scope of authority of the Board of
Directors and is subject to be clarified on the scope of such authorization. The authorization must not allow
the authorized person(s) to consider and approve agenda that the authorized person(s) and-or persons
with possible conflict of interest may be concerned in term of benefit or loss, or may disadvantage the

Company in any nature.
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Audit Committee

As of 31 December 2020, the Audit Committee consisted of 3 independent directors, each of which holds the
office for three years (from 27 August 2018 - 26 August 2021), as follows:

1. Mr. Komkris Prachakris Chairman of the Audit Committee
2. Mr. Charin Hansuebsai Audit Committee
3. Mr. Tawat Polquamdee Audit Committee

Mr. Komkris Prachakris has knowledge and experience which are adequate for performing its duties on review

the reliabilities of financial reports.

Scope of Authority and Responsibility of the Audit Committee

1.

2.

10.

Review the financial reports of the Company to ensure accuracy and adequate disclosure.

Review the internal control systems and the internal audit function of the Company to ensure that they
are adequate and effective and to consider the internal audit independence, as well as to approve the

appointment, transfer and dismissal of the chief of the internal audit.

Review the practices and processes of the Company to ensure the compliant with the securities exchange

regulations and other relevant laws.

Assess the adequacy of the Company’s risk management systems and the remedial measures for those

risks that have material impact on the Company.

Evaluate and nominate to the Board of Directors the appointment of the Company’s auditors together with
the recommendation on their compensation. The Audit Committee needs to convene with the auditor

at least once a year, but without the participation of the Company’s Executives.

To review connected transactions, or transactions that may lead to conflicts of interest, to ensure that they
are in compliance with the law on securities and exchange, and by-laws issued by the aforementioned

laws.

Prepare the Audit Committee’s report on the result of its overseeing activities and have it expressly

disclosed in the annual report. The report must be signed by the Chairman of the Audit Committee.

With the consent of the Audit Committee, carry out other matters as may be assigned by the Board of

Directors of the Company.
To report the Audit Committee’s activities to the Board of the Directors at Least four times a year

In performing its duties, the Audit Committee is empowered to order the Company’s Executives, unit
heads, or any relevant employee to give opinion, attend meetings, or hand over documents deemed
relevant and necessary to the Audit Committee.
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Company’s Executives

As of 31 December 2020, the Company’s Executives consisted of 7 members

1. Mr. Lee, Yeh-Wen Managing Director

2. Mr. Thavee Jatchavala Executive Deputy Managing Director and

Acting Administrative Department Manager

3. Mr. Sathit Kosinanondh Deputy Managing Director Finance & Accounting and Company Secretary
4. Mr. Chen, Wu-Hua Deputy Managing Director

5. Mr. Veerasak Laoruksakiat Sales Department Manager

6. Mr. Sheng, Chien-Hong Plant Department Manager

7. Ms. Chatrawadee Kumsanit Finance & Accounting Department Manager

Scope of Authority and Responsibility of Managing Director

Managing Director reports to the Board of Directors and has the authority and responsibility as stated below.

1.

7.

Perform the duty that complies with laws, objective, and regulations of the Company, policy, and assignment

of the Board of Directors.

Designate strategy and prepare the yearly business operation and budget plan for the Board of Directors’
for consideration and approval in appropriate time frame.

Improve and revamp organization structure and plan concerning human resource management to be in
line with the business operation and budget plan. Propose the plan for consideration and approval from
the Board of Directors.

To ensure of smooth business operations, managing director is responsible for revising and improving
operation manual on human resource, accounting and finance, and procurement, and propose the changes

of manual for the Board of Directors’ consideration and approval.

Run the Company’s operation under the designated business and budget plan, and achieve the target
set by the Board of Directors.

Managing director has the authority and responsibility as stated in the authorization manual and cannot
commit anything that may benefit oneself or is against the Company’s benefit.

Perform other duties as assigned by the Board of Directors.

Selection of Directors
Board of Directors

The Company has not set up a nominating committee to select persons to be the Company’s directors.

However, the Company has designated criteria in appointing directors. The selection of directors is considered by

the Board of Directors, based on each person’s qualifications, experience, vision and creditability. Furthermore,

according to the Company’s Articles, in each annual general shareholders’ meeting, a third of the directors must

be replaced by one, which are elected by shareholders’ meeting on the following principles.
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1. Each shareholder has one vote per each share that they own.

2. Each shareholder can exercise all votes that they have and could vote for one person or a more, but
they cannot give more votes to any candidate than other(s).

3. Candidates with the highest scores in respective order will be placed in the available vacant positions. In
case of equal votes received by candidates, Chairman of the Board of Directors will be the one to make
decision on the appointment.

In case of vacancy due to other cases than yearly automatic term expiration, and the term is not less than
2 months, the Board of Directors is subject to select qualified person(s) without any nature against laws governing
public companies in the next board meeting. Successful candidates must receive at least three quarters of votes
from the existing members of the board directorship. The replacement director ends on the same date as the
outgoing one.
Audi mmi
The Board of Directors appoints 3 independent directors as the Audit Committee, each of which must qualify
regulations under the Securities and Exchange Acts, and holds the office for three years. At least one of them must
has knowledge and experience which are adequate for performing its duties on review the reliabilities of financial
reports .The Audit Committee members who vacate the office might be re-appointed.

Management Remuneration

Cash Remuneration

2019 2020

Remuneration Total Total
Type of remuneration No Type of remuneration
amount amount
Board of 9 4,277,875 Retaining fee, salary and 9 4,334,500 Retaining fee, salary and
Directors bonus bonus
(salary and bonus only (salary and bonus only
for Chairman and two for Chairman and two
directors who are on directors who are on
special assignment) special assignment)
Executives 7 5,982,000 Salary and Bonus 4 5,950,000 Salary and Bonus
Total 10,259,875 10,284,500

Other Remuneration

-N/A-

59

Annual Report 2020



nIsMAUANaNNISHA

vlFmnuddfumssidufanmsemdnnisiiiuguaianisid TnesjsasearmdosiliiAntuiudiidiuldde
MIENITUTMTINNTTINA Nz anivaniuenisel Yadewindey anmasvgianazdinlutogiu IneAddmalseney
msfirlusrerenuasiinmudsiiunegsio feanuddydieiul eaenssunsuien Saftuauaslimdnnistifugua
Ramsiin dmiuuiemanmzideud) 2560 Geeenlnedrinnunmznssunmsinduvdnminduaznaiandnning snfvundy
ulsvglunsifuguaianisiiaded

nanUQUR 1 ms:nanfivunuINiazAoIuSUIABOU vadAtu=NssUNIsTugu:wun avAns
naswaruA TANAYN1sagagvEu

60

ANENsTINSUTEMY BamdnuSvannisddy gsRafennudaiu middenisaiisyadudia uazanudulasy
\sugia Yulaveusednu uavdunndon IngldufuRnudunuuegdlunts URTAvTNT uazdneveau3sndnan
aundahednng Lﬁ@ﬂﬂﬂﬂg’jﬁ’ﬁiuﬁﬂmﬂLamﬁ’uﬁ% 9IANT WAZI1952UUIAINISIIBNUNANIATY UGN 9
Tuivszgunmznssunsuisme Wuuszd

ANENTIUMSUTENY Amuaulsuisnisiiu guaiansiia Whiduuumalunmsujifves yaainsynsefuvesuieny
FausinssunsuTen aeonauiuims winou uasdidldidennngy uandameriuivleivesuisnt Tnenssuns
wazffudsazdesl fuRnihfisnenuuiiaveu selinsy it uardedndanindensdns wazqualsisl Madidunusmy
nnvane detsdy uazuATiUszYgde

ANZNTIUNITUTEN Mruaunuinaesnssunis Llungdnsnssuns waznssunisgages My uaunguane ng
seilU wagallansfiiugua AIN1sNATesUTENY Tudienisgualasasne nssunshivansay wavimualasaasng
ANMBULMUYBINTIUNTT FUimsuagniine iivelvilinnisufianiaenndesiu Tnguszasduasidvunenanveesdns

ANZNITUNTUTEN Amualingsuns §u3ms wilna UiRnuesesssugsia wae afaduimusssuesdns lny
szylilugiio asssussalumssiiugsiadmiunssuns §uims uasntdnouresuisvg wiouiadame wwama
msdaasliAnnsuiiRnuasessan 5379 wagRnmunisufRessaianemuiissy Wluuwunsmiuguaianis
i

ARIYNTTUNTUTEN nuMazivue Idevied Wusha firnns uaznagnivesuisne titeliiudms uasniinaus
Aiunseenu SuRaveulunisusenaugsia llufiamaiediu enseukagdrunamsmlivaulimngauiu
muSuinreuveshednns Taeliunsnussnsdndulaludesiiduunumveshodnnis

Bangsaphan Barmill PLC.



Good Corporate Governance

The Company attaches the great importance to the operation of business in accordance with the principles of
good corporate governance by aiming to build trust with stakeholders and managing the business to be suitable
for the current economic and social conditions.

The Board of directors, therefore, deems it appropriate to apply the principles of good corporate governance
for listed companies in 2017, issued by the Office of the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), to set the
good corporate governance policy as follows:

Principle 1: Establish Clear Leadership Role and Responsibilities of the Board

« The Board of Directors Based on the philosophy of operation Business with sustainability think about creating
value added, economic growth, social responsibility and the environment. They act as a good example in perform
their duties and transfer the said philosophy to the management team in order to implement in the same direction
throughout the organization and set up a system for reporting the various operations at the Board of Directors’
meetings on a regular basis.

 The Board of Directors determine Good Corporate Governance policy to be the guideline for the practice
of personnel at all levels of the Company including the directors, the executives, employees and all groups of
stakeholders. This policy will be disclosed through the website of the Company. Therefore, the directors and
executives must perform their duties with responsibility, caution and honesty to the organization and ensure
operations in accordance with the laws, regulations and resolutions of the shareholders’ meeting.

« The Board of Directors set the role of directors and the sub-committees in accordance with the laws,
regulations and the manual Good business practice of the Company. They also review the structure of committee
and define the structure of remuneration of the director, the executives and staff in order to comply with the
main objectives of the organization.

« The Board of Directors specify that directors, executives and employees comply with business ethics and
create a corporate culture by specifying in the manual of Business Ethics for directors, executives and employees.
Moreover, they disclose the guidelines for promoting business ethics and follow up on a regular basis as specified
in the good corporate governance plan.

 The Board of Directors review and determine the Company’s vision, mission, direction and strategy for the
executives and employees to proceed with responsible for business in the same direction. They also set the framework
and operational power to suit with the management’s responsibility without interfering with management decisions.
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Principle 2: Define Objectives that Promote Sustainable Value Creation

The Board of Directors attaches the great importance to the determination of the main operation objectives
of the Company in order that the organization can grow with the sustainability, created value and benefit to the
organization, customers, business partners, employees, shareholders, stakeholders and the society as a whole.

In this regard, the Board of Directors has established the strategies, various plans, as well as follow up and
evaluate the performance regularly. In order to be consistent with the achievement of the main objectives of the
business with the innovation and technology being used appropriately and safely.

Moreover, the Board of Directors oversee the transmission of objectives through the strategies and plans
throughout the organization by considering the business plans and corporate strategies with regard to the creating
of lasting value for shareholders , stakeholders, society and environment

Principle 3: Strengthen Board Effectiveness

Performance of the Board of Directors and Committees
- Details of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors comprises of 9 directors, 4 of which are independent directors. For more details on
biography, authority, duties and remuneration, please see ‘Details of Board of Directors’ and ‘Shareholding Structure
and Management’ in this report.

The Company has only 1 Committee namely the Audit Committee comprising 3 independent directors appointed
by the Board of Directors and will hold the office for the term of 3 years. For more details on biography, authority,
duties and remuneration please see ‘Details of Board of Directors” and ‘Shareholding Structure and Management’
in this report.

- Performance in the previous year

In 2020 the Company held totally 13 meetings and Company Secretary acted as secretary to the Board of
Directors. Each director received the invitation letter together with details of each item in the Agenda, 7 days
prior to the meeting. In each meeting at least half of directors attended the meeting. Chairman of the meeting
allowed directors to fully express their opinions and the meeting took around 1-2 hours. Attendance records of
each director are as follows:
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Board Meetings and Audit Committee’s Meetings in 2020

Name of Director No. of Board Meeting No. of Audit Committee Meeting
Attended Attended
Mr. Taweesak Senanarong 1/13 =
Mr. Charin Hansuebsai 13/13 5/5
Mr. Win Viriyaprapaikit 10713 =
Mr. Komkris Prachakis 13/13 5/5
Mr. Anuwat Chaikittivanich 9/13 -
Mr. Tawat Polquamdee 13/13 4/5
Mr. Fang, Jin-Long 0/13* =
Mr. Lee, Yeh-Wen 13/13 -
Mr. Lee, Chien-Hung 0/13% =

*Directors from foreign country cannot joined the meeting due to COVID-19 pandemic

In 2020 the Audit Committee made a self-assessment through the form guided by the SEC and found that the
committee was qualified in terms of specification and operating result under the scope of duty and authorities
according to good practices advised by the SET. Moreover, the Audit Committee has reviewed and modified the
Charter of Audit Committee which has been approved by the Board of Directors.

Responsibilities of the Board

The independence of Board of Directors from the Executives

As at 31 December 2020 the Company has 9 Directors, 8 of which are not the Executives (4 of which are
Independent Directors) and only 1 Managing Director holds the position in the Executives.

The Company’s policy prescribes that Chairman and Managing Director shall not be the same person. To
clearly separate the roles and balance the operating power, Chairman as the policy leader, engages in setting up
the vision and supervising the work of the high level Executives. It is prescribed that Vice Chairman (if any) or a
Director selected by the Board will act as Chairman in case Chairman is unable to perform his duty. On the other
hand the Managing Director’s main role is the leader of the Executives. He performs duty according to the Board
of Directors’ policy. At the present, Mr.Taweesak Senanarong holds the position of Chairman and Mr. Lee, Yeh-Wen
holds the position of Managing Director.

The Board of Director and the Executives have duties and responsibility to the shareholders. The duties and
responsibility of the Board of Directors and the Executives are clearly separate as specified in the scope of authority,
duties and responsibility of the Board of Directors and the Executives under the topic of “Shareholding Structure
and the Management” in this Annual Report.

Annual Report 2020 65



AJTUINUN=dUVOIATUNSSUNIS

ANENTINNTVBIUIENUSENRUMEEMIIRANd ITanudmiNausa wazUszaunsallususine wu idudideanglu
gnanvnss 1uiBnmaiunsiuaynssuians sunstyd Suimnssuuasenamngsy funsinviuazAaunsy
paDRIUFUNIINAYEaLY Wudu (s TRlnedaaUvenssunisusasau [usaganiide “seaziBoniferiunaznssuns”
Tusrenuuszsdaduil) nssumsmnaudiamududasylunsdndula uazanunsogiisnalunsuiifinthiteded
UszAnsam Tedlnaenssunsidiuin weaunsy Usznnde LﬁuﬂiiumiaaizﬁﬁmmﬁmmL%wwmw’ﬁumsﬁ’m%l,l,ag
n9iiu Seldussalsimsshuminisssuanenssunammadey

nssuMsvesUITElaiunseusIkaslafulsenmalle Unsanudngnsidnlagauaudaasuanidunssunsusenlne fsil

UIUNTTUNTARIUNANGAT

Director Accreditation Program 4
Director Certification Program 3
The Role of the Chairman Program 1
Audit Committee Program 1

Augnssunsianuauleueiinssunsynau deawdssieiiussguamugnssumslaendumnnssunisavilalaaiiiu
gInssudueaneliinautandmimalseleviseuiem

AoWIUsulalunisassrninssunis

S18aLLDUANEINUNITNANTUILALITNTATINN N55UNSUSEN Lnanbiuarluiidenisassm nssunis Tuises “laseasia
nshoruuazn15IANTs” Tusigaulsedntadull

nssunsnldimeiseiumiaingsunmsvesusenunney agldsunisussengasudnuusnisuseneuginanieunsgile
UNUMKAEVTNTIANUTURAYEUYBINTTUNTT AABAIUNTHINIEENYULTINUYDIUTENAY

Us=ansnawlunasriantinfiveuAnuznssunis

TunmsUszguangnssunsumdsiatuiuusesmnitoutu (Wl 2563 fnmsdauseru 13 a9 Amznssunsimuel
fhednnniauenansiifunuiefunmuduussdmnifeu nssumsusazeuiidasslunisdnam WiteAaiu uazuils
foyaianduifeafumsmansalaniizgranmnssy iesmifunauunlovienieutadvnglunmsiudusmiinnzanss
P afls TumsUszgunssunislussaradslailétinissmuanandnyseen Wlfunldoalumsussyadondaas 12 dlus

wUIYNSUTEImMITavInsAnEnsIung swiaduiiuiinenunsussyuluaednualdnus welisesiu
nssunsasususesazdnulimeiludeyadmsudieades a drinnuvesuien

Tu 2563 Angnssunasanaeulddaussusisiu 5 afs (Iunsusssuimiuiaoutnduesuidvlaedlifihe dnnis
Whsaushesiuan 1 asy) luudavadsilSesinnsaniidndy enfi mslimudivseudwiuusunuuasunsunansUfo
sunsaeunglulagnsmuaunely MsfasanTenmsszriniulasmenmsfienafianudaudmamayselowd ns
HITUIANUYNADILATATUIIUVDITIYINUNINITRY nssunsunansUfiAnusesuagngineiiieadesesie
$anns warnsfaidondaeutiyiusedil fedl senuasuneanisUssguvesnnnsIumInTaaeuldgniiaus Vs
vosnnznsIuMsuiTvluasdnlusununnads

66 Bangsaphan Barmill PLC.



Suitability of the Board of Directors

Board of Directors comprises of the persons with high qualifications, knowledge, capability, experience in
various fields such as being the expert in industry, finance and banking, engineering, education and art, commercial
and etc. ( See “Details of the Board of Directors” in this Annual report for Brief Biography of each Director.) Each
Director can make decision freely and devote time to perform their duty effectively. The Board of Directors has
appointed Mr. Komkris Prachakis the Chairman of the Audit Committee because he is the Independent Director
and the accounting and finance expert.

The Company’s Directors were trained and granted certificates from programs arranged by the Institute of
Directors as follows;

I Number of Directors

Director Accreditation Program 4
Director Certification Program 3
The Role of the Chairman Program 1
Audit Committee Program 1

The Board of Directors set a policy that any Director who is doing any business that may affect to the Company’s
benefit must inform the Board as soon as possible.

Transparent Selection of Directors

Details of the consideration and selection of directors were mentioned in the sub-topic of ‘Selection of
Directors’ under the topic of ‘Shareholding Structure and Management’ in this Annual Report.

The new coming director will receive an introductory lecture on the nature of Company’s business, together
with a handbook of role, duties and responsibility of the director, as well as a factory visit.

Effectiveness in Performing Director’s duty

In the Board Meeting held on monthly basis (in 2020 there were 13 meetings), the Board of Directors assigned
the Executives to report the operating result for information on monthly basis. Each director had freedom to
inquire, make suggestion and receive the additional information on the forecast of the industrial situation in order
to jointly formulating the policy together with setting up the appropriate target of the operation. In each meeting,
there was no determined adjourned time; last year average meeting time was 1-2 hours.

Company Secretary acted as secretary to the Board of Directors as well as being a person who recorded the
Minutes of the Meeting, which will be certified by the Chairman and will be kept as data for related persons at
the Company’s office.

In 2020 the Audit Committee held total 5 meetings (including 1 meeting with the Independent Auditor and
without the participation of the Executives). In each meeting there were important matters to be considered such as
approval of the plans and acknowledgement of the result of the internal audit and internal control, consideration
of the related party transactions and potential conflict of interest transactions, consideration of the correctness and
completeness of the Financial Report, acknowledgement of the result of the operation and compliance with rules
and related laws and selection of the Independent Auditor for the year. Summary report of the Audit Committee’s
Meeting was submitted to the coming Board of Directors’ Meeting for acknowledgement.
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In 2011, the Board of Directors approved the “Company Ethics” and distributed it for every employee notification.
The Company Ethics comprises of 3 agenda;

e Business Practices

« Directors’ Practices

«  Employee’s Practices

In regards to the Director’s Practices, detail is shown below;

1. Each Director shall do his duty in comply with laws, Company’s objectives, regulations as well as Shareholders’
solutions, with honest and carefulness in relations to the Company’s benefit.

2. Each Director shall be responsible for his duty in regards to availability and full effort to support the
Company’s continuous growth and appropriated earnings.

3. Each Director shall be responsible for shareholders’ wealth, and in the same time balance the benefit of
all stakeholders.

4. Each Director shall not use his authority to seek for his own benefit, and/or not share outsider the Company’s
undisclosed information, and/or not use such information to seek for its own benefit, and/or not do anything that
may have a conflict with the Company’s benefit.

Principle 4: Ensure Effective CEO and People Management

The Company has not yet established the Nominating Committee to select top executives but has specified
the qualifications of directors and senior management. Therefore, the Company can ensure that the recruited
directors and senior executives are suitable for the operation and comply with the business plan as specified in
the charter and code of conduct of the Company in order to meet the specified goals.

In addition, the Board of Directors also give the importance to understand the structure and relationship of
major shareholders which may affect the administration of the business and the power to control the management
of the Company. This is to ensure that it will not be the obstacle to the performance of the duties of Board of
directors and will also ensure the disclosure of information that may affect the appropriate control of the business.

In doing so, the Board of Directors has set a compensation structure for directors and the executives as well
as the evaluation system that is suitable for the scope of the responsibility duties.

Regarding personnel development, the Board of Directors will monitor and manage the personnel development
to ensure that they have the appropriate knowledge, skills, experience and motivation in order to manage the
business to follow the policy of good corporate governance efficiency as well as being able to continuously improve
the operation.
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Principle 5: Nurture Innovation and Responsible Business

Innovation Promoting

The Board of Directors attach the importance and support the creation of the innovations that can build the
business value with the focus on research and product development. Moreover, the customers will receive the
high quality products.

In addition, the committee also promotes the creation of various innovations with the use of efficient machinery
and advanced technology in the production process to reduce waste. This is the important cost saving to ensure the
most efficient operation of the Company under good control process including the development and conservation
of the environment and communities.

Social Responsibility

The Company believes that its past operations for the business benefits has partly contributed to the social
responsibility with always regard to the stakeholders as parts of the guidelines for many activities. This applies
to the level of compliance to rules and regulations and to the objectives of mutual benefits among non-specific
stakeholders’ groups. However, the Company has not yet determined the social responsibility of individual activities
into written policy guidelines, objectives, strategies and implementation plans.

This is the first Corporate Social Responsibility Report prepared by taking the guidelines from Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC) as a framework to determine its content and format. The Company has determined
the scope of the report into the following 7 topics:

Stakeholders

Fair business operations Customers, trading partners, suppliers, society, share-
holders

Anti-corruption Trading partners, employees, and society

Human rights respect Community and society

Fair treatment of labor force Employees, trading partners

Consumers responsibility Society, customers

Environment conservation Community and society, customers

Participation of community and social development Community and society
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Fair Business Operations

In 2011, the Company by the Board of Directors determined the business code of conduct as well as the
directors’ and employees’ ethics. Parts of the contents take into consideration the following business ethics with
regard to the Company’s stakeholders.

The Company conducts its businesses on the basis of responsibility, transparency, honesty and competitiveness
by treating fairly and maintaining the balance of interests for every party as follows:

Stakeholders Company’s Code of Conduct

Shareholder and investor The Company operates its business with good performance for reasonable
returns to the shareholders and investors.

Customer The Company produces goods and services to meet the customers’ quality
standard requirements at fair prices.

Trading partner and creditor  The Company operates its business on the basis of fair support.
Competitor The Company operates its business on the basis of fair competition.

Employee The Company takes care of the employees’ quality of life with competing
employment conditions and appropriate fringe benefits, comparing to the labor
market, as well as the opportunity to progress under the safe working environ-
ment and hygiene sanitation.

Community and society The Company conducts its business by engaging social responsibility with the

community and considers the impact on natural resources and environment.

Nation The Company conducts its business to strengthen and develop the national
growth by following the legal requirements and general business practices.

Anti-corruption

The Company is committed to operate its business based on the corporate governance principles and social
responsibility to achieve the sustainable development. The Company acknowledges that corruption is a serious
threat that undermines the corporate and the nation as a whole. Therefore, in 2015 the Company has declared
the intent to join the Private Sector Collective Action Coalition Against Corruption. The Company has prepared
the operating plan and determine the Anti-Corruption measures and entered the certification process with CAC
on December 15, 2017. On August 21, 2018, the CAC Committee resolved to approve the Company become a
member of the Private Sector Collective Action Coalition Against Corruption.
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The Board of Directors has also approved the issue of ethics in business, Code of Conduct for Directors and
Employees. This Code of Conduct defines the basic principles of the professional practice for the directors and
employees to practice to stakeholders with honesty. Moreover, the Board of Directors has considered further to
include the anti-corruption policy in the ethics of business as follows:

The Company’s policy is to comply with the Anti-corruption law as per the following guidelines.
1. To build the awareness, attitudes, values, Law and regulation compliance with integrity to the employee.

2. To provide the efficiency and effectiveness internal control system including the checks and balances of
the power usage in order to prevent the fraud and corruption.

3. To prohibit the director, the management and staff to commit any claim or accept the assets or other
benefits for themselves or others in a way that induced to perform or refrain from perform the duties in a wrongful
way or the way that the Company may lose the benefits.

4. To prohibit the director, the management and staff to offer the asset or any other benefits to third parties
in order to induce that person to act or refrain from any action that is illegal or wrongful act on its position.

5. To provide the mechanism for accuracy transparent financial reporting.

6. To provide the channel of communication that staff and those who concerned will be able to report the
suspicious by ensuring that it is protected. And to appoint the officer who is responsible for investigating all that
incoming notifications.

Human Rights Respect

The Company attaches great importance to human right as the main policy in running the business towards
sustainability. Taking into account the respect for human rights of all employees.

The Company do not discriminate on employment and provide the equality of opportunity, regardless of
race, color, sex, religion, nationality, background of the person, political opinion, age or disability as the factors in
determining and deciding on employment. Moreover, the Company do not force people who do not volunteer
to work and do not hire the child labor. In the past, there have been no complaints about human rights abuses.

Fair Treatment of Labor Force

The Company has always realized that all employees are the Company’s most valuable asset. As the success
factor of the Company’s achievement, the Company provides fair treatment and care in terms of opportunities,
returns, appointments, relocation and welfare that are appropriate and fair such as.

The Company hires its employees by comparing with the similar businesses in the labor market. Apart from the
employees’ fringe benefits in compliance with laws, the Company also provides additional benefits appropriate for
the working conditions and places with regard to the mutual benefits e.g. bus transfers for employees commuting to
work. This responds to the employees’ safety due to fatigue from travelling to and from work. On the other hand,
it also helps relieve the traffic congestion to the community, save energy and reduce pollution caused by vehicles.

Catering is provided to the employees at the Company’s canteen. Besides saving expenses and time required
for preparing employees’ foods, this also concerns the employees’ health, sanitation and nutrition as well. The
Company believes that if the employees are healthy, they will perform their jobs more effectively.
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Consumers Responsibility

The Company continues to adhere and implement the policies that will satisfy customer’s satisfaction. The
customers represent the person who buy the product directly from the Company and the consumers who use
such products. The consumers can be assured that in addition to receiving the goods with the fair price and the
best quality, the Company is also aware of the safety that may affect society and the environment as well.

Apart from being certified by Thai Industrial Standards (TIS), the Company products have also been accepted
by the intermediary suppliers, construction supervisors and general consumers of its reliable quality under “BSBM”
brand. In addition, the products have also been recognized by the country’s leading business alliance who trusts
and allows the Company to manufacture the products under the alliance’s brand.

Though the Company is the manufacturer and distributor primarily to the large dealers (wholesalers), but
the Company also provides delivery service to the construction sites or retailers (who are the dealers’ customers)
as well, so as to reduce the complicated delivery redundancy burden, save time, save energy and reduce traffic
congestion as well.

Construction
work

Purchase order / payment

—

Dealer

Environment Conservation

The Company was awarded Level 3 Green Industry Award from Ministry of Industry by having “Green System”,
which refers to the organization that has systematic environmental management; ¢ood monitoring; evaluation;
and review for consistent development. This Green Industry Award was effective from 2011-2013. In addition, the
Company also received the Certificate of Good Environmental Governance and has consistently been accredited
with 1ISO: 14001 Environmental Management Standard since 2005.

Since the Company has a piece of vacant land, adjacent to the present factory, to be developed in the future.
In 2010, the Company started to have improvement on approximately 90 rais of land by growing rubber trees and
other plants respectively. Apart from the direct economic benefits from these plants, these are the other ways
to increase green area to the community; become the animals’ habitats; represent good barriers between factory
and community; in order to reduce the community’s concerns on the environment. It is also a good example of
utilizing the vacant land for the community.

Annual Report 2020 77



wonani lud 2563 vielugrusuaindnveusseaniseliTiudniufanssuguasnvduwandey duunundiuey
MUAMIAREY IATeaITeN fullseazidunaglunisneinuasi

ﬁanisu@ua%'ﬂmﬁurma"au

SwInhlasinisnsisinnunmainteslugtnouEE Y WY ANAMDINALLYNIY AMANEINY AAINEIAY
ANMUILARY wazAnIvEia niaursLiunsaeuauiAUARYBIYUTIY

wdnilasensdrsiannuainatensdinineesuntusyuuinelaeseulsenu

lasennsaudnsiieusuaznsdansvegluguyy Usednl 2563 59079015 INTIARAUTH MY L YUY LA NI

A\

72%)

LTV TR
RV ARCAYA SAVARTRYA

T TN T
—

Foh SV SRV ARV
= i

78 Bangsaphan Barmill

—

8" IDVRVRLSN

PLC. ' o



In 2020, the Company as a member of the Sahaviriya Group has conducted environmental conservation
activities with Environmental Specialist of Sahaviriya Group as detailed in the below table.

Environmental Activities

Participated in Environmental Monitoring Projects in Bangsaphan District such as Inspections of air pollution,
quality of rain, quality of surface water, quality of underground water and sea water. We also surveyed the

attitude of the Community regarding our operations.
Explored the bird life in the surroundings of the factory for the further study and comparison.

Participated in 2020 Community Waste Management and Learning Center Project and conducted the Bang

Saphan Community Waste Reduction Campaign.
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Participation of Community and Social Development

The Company takes social responsibility as well as environmental policies of Sahaviriya Group, which the
Company is one of the members, as the guidelines for conducting its businesses. The Company is responsible
for the impact on society and environment from its business and corporate systemic operations, starting from
consistent protection, maintenance, improvement and development. This will foster the innovation practices within
the organization towards the society. The initial basis is compliance to laws, then consistence with international
standards; social ethics; environmental consideration; and balance of stakeholders’ satisfaction. The Company has
also supported business factors and directly participated in community and social activities.

/
Sahaviriya Group == | Mission:

“Committed to the development

of steel industry for national

construction, community

development and environmental

. friendliness in compliance

Affiliate Company of Bangsaphan — with sustainable development
Factory Group \guideune» y

, %

Sahaviriya Group
Environmental

Management and
Promotion Center

“Raise the affiliated companies’
environmental management to the
international level and become
the national leader in term of
sustainable development”

Sahaviriya Group
Community
Development
Division

“Help develop sustainable
community by focusing on
consistent community participation

and building up confidence to
live together in peace”

Sahaviriya Group
Community
Relations Division

“Build up good relationship with
direct and indirect stakeholders
for sustainable living between
community and steel industry”

(1)

The Board of Directors focus on social responsibility by indicating in one topic under the Directors’ code
of conduct that the directors shall perform their duties with regard to accountability to the shareholders’ and
simultaneously to the relevant stakeholders’ benefits by treating every interest group appropriately and fairly.
Furthermore, the Board of Directors acknowledges their mutual benefits fairly and sustainably by indicating at the
end of “Report of the Board of Directors Regarding the Company’s Businesses” and appreciating every group of
the Company’s stakeholders for their annual cooperation.
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In most of the normal business operations at the Company’s factory and the affiliated companies under
Sahaviriya Group in Bang Saphan Sub-district, Prachuabkirikhan Province, we take into consideration the impact on
the neighbor community and always develop social responsibility work. The important and prominent activities,
organized between the affiliated companies and the community with mutual benefits, are as follows:

Participating with local college: in the initial stage, we cooperate with “Bang Saphan Vocational College” by
establishing “College of Bang Saphan Iron and Steel Management Technology” with the support on curriculum,
equipment and facilities, research funding and scholarship to produce the qualified and knowledgeable manpower for
the business unit requirements. This opens the opportunity for the young generation in the surrounding community
to study and have access to work in their domicile. Apart from saving the travelling cost, this activity also maintains
the good relationship between the family members and the community.

In 2020, the Company as a member of the Sahaviriya Group has conducted the community development
activities with Sahaviriya Group as per the details in below table.

Community Development Activities

Supported Sahaviriya Fund Project to develop the quality of education in Bang Saphan and Sahaviriya Group

Scholarship Program.

Supported “Save Bangsaphan Project” to provide medical equipment to Bangsaphan Hospital to tackle the
COVID-19 pandemic.

Supported the project to build the good relationships with the communities and government officials and also

supported the traditional activities day in Bangsaphan Community.

Provided the community support programs such as face masks, cloth masks, personal protective clothing (PPE)

and COVID-19 prevention equipment to the community in Bang Saphan District.

Supported the operation of the Community Banks and the Community Council.
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For the procurement of production factors from local entrepreneurs, besides supporting the community to get
the mutual benefits from the Company’s activities, it also saves transportation cost and time as well as reduces
traffic congestion. Proportion of expenses paid to the local entrepreneurs in Bang Saphan District is exhibited in

the table below:
Proportion to Total Expenses*

Expenses paid directly to local community Baht 47,574,138 20.0%

*Remark: Exclude major raw material cost - steel billet and depreciation on buildings and equipment

Determining safety measures for delivery both in the local and outside community, including special measures
on the Company’s transportation companies beyond the requirements in laws, which cover vehicles; drivers; driving
rules; monitoring; clearly determined penalties apart from legal penalties. This will reduce certain level of accidents
from transportation causing the loss for both the Company and the community.

Principle 6: Strengthen Effective Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that the Company have the risk management and internal
control system that will enable the operations to achieve the objectives with the effectiveness and comply with
the relevant laws and standards.

The Board of Directors has appointed the audit committee which everyone must be an independent director
and do not have the prohibited characteristics under relevant laws as well as having the qualifications and duties
in accordance with the regulations of the SEC and the Stock Exchange of Thailand. The audit committee then can
perform duties efficiency and independently the various duties as assigned by the Board of Directors including the
review of financial reports, internal control system, legal compliance, auditor selection, the disclosure of Company
information and report of the audit committee, etc.

Moreover, the audit committee has the duty to understand the risk assessment methodology of the business
which the management has established significant risk management measures. The Company then has the risk
management system that varies with both internal and external environment factors according to the economic
conditions, laws and regulations appropriately and effectively.

The Board of Directors assess the internal control activities in five areas as follows:
1. Organization and environment

2. Risk Management

3. Executive performance control

4. Information Technology

5. Monitoring system

The Board of Directors viewed that the Company had sufficient internal control in all areas mentioned above,

including transection with major shareholders, directors, executives and those related to these people.

For the year 2020, the Audit Committee together with internal audit of the Company reviewed all areas of
the internal control to ensure their effectiveness and recommended to improve efficiency of some functions to
suit with current situations. Moreover the independent auditor gave additional recommendations to fulfill the
Company’s internal control.
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Principle 7: Ensure Disclosure and Financial Integrity

Disclosure and Transparency
Information Disclosure pursuant to the regulations of SET

The Company has a policy to disseminate Company’s information to investors both shareholders and potential
shareholders via channel that provide information to receivers on equal basis. In 2020 the Company disclosed
the information mainly via SET News. The Company appointed Mr. Lee Yeh Wen, Managing Director and Mr. Sathit
Kosinanondh, Deputy Managing Director and Company Secretary to have the authority to report such information. Last
year the Company was able to fully comply with regulations governing information disclosure of listed companies.

Quality of the Financial Reports

The Company had a policy to prepare accurate, complete and transparent financial reports in accordance
with accounting standards in both the transaction amount of money and explanation in the Notes to the Financial
Statements. The financial reports would be issued within the legal time frame and in accordance with the regulations
of the SET.

In 2020 the Company prepared 4 financial reports and each report was submitted to the Audit Committee’s
Meeting for consideration and consent prior to submission to the Board of Directors for disclosure approval and/
or consent with recommendation and propose to the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting for approval in case of the
year-end report. Besides, these financial reports had been reviewed and audited by the Independent Auditor as
shown in the Report of the Certified Public Accountant (by Ms. Isaraporn Witsuthiyan C.P.A. No. 7480 of EY Office
Limited) which expressed unqualified opinions for all 4 reports.

The Company has appointed the Auditors as approved by the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders for the
year 2020. The Auditors of the Company have the qualifications that complied with the SET regulations. The audit
fee for the year 2020 was fixed at Baht 1,240,000, remained the same as in 2019. The Auditors do not provide other
services to the Company and have no relationship and conflict of interest with the Company, major shareholders,
management and their relatives.

Investor Relations

The Company does not have the independent Investor Relation Unit. The Company assigned Mr. Sathit
Kosinanondh, Deputy Managing Director and Company Secretary to be responsible for the duty of the investor
relations and Ms. Chatrawadee Kumsanit, Finance and Accounting Manager, to be his assistant. Investors can contact
Investor Relations Unit at telephone number 0 2630 0590-5 or via website: www.bsbm.co.th or via email at sathit@
bsbm.co.th or chatrawadeek@bsbm.co.th.
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Principle 8: Ensure Engagement and Communication with Shareholders

Rights of Shareholders
Board of Directors’ policy regarding the supervision of shareholders

The Board of Directors realized the importance of the good corporate governance, which was the key factor
to strengthen the organization’s efficiency and the foundation of qualitative and sustainable growth of business as
well as promotion of the organization’s transparent operation, which could be verified to enhance the confidence
of shareholders, investors, related persons and stakeholders. The Board of Directors believed that the good
corporate governance would add economic value to shareholders and maximize the benefit to stakeholders of the
Company. Thus, the Board of Directors committed to supervise and oversee the Company’s operation to be fully
in compliance with the principles of good corporate governance and rules of gsood practice for listed companies
according to guidelines of Stock Exchange of Thailand (SET) and the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). The
Company has had a lot of good practices implemented and also has several other ones undergone development.
From the latest appraisal on good corporate governance in the year 2020, we were counted on with a score of 72
percent by the Institute of Directors (IOD) with backup by SET and SEC.

Giving an opportunity to shareholders to study the information prior to the Shareholders’ Meeting

Shareholders were provided via the Company’s website a channel to propose agenda for the Annual General
Shareholders’ Meeting to the Board of Directors, starting 29 November 2019 for the period of 60 days for consideration
and approve agenda for the Annual General Shareholders’ Meeting for 2020. In the preparation of every meeting,
the Company has a policy to strictly comply with the law and regulation. In the previous year the Company held
the Annual General Shareholders’ Meeting for 2020 on 3 August 2020, whereas 6 out of 9 Directors attended the
Meeting (6 out of 9 Directors attended the Meeting in 2019).

The Company assigned Thailand Securities Depository, Company’s Registrar to send the invitation letters
notifying the Agenda of the Meeting together with the opinion of the Board of Directors and the Annual Report, 19
days prior to the Meeting (20 days in advance in 2019). Besides those details are also published a month earlier
on the Company’s website, including the Annual Report.

Promoting the Rights of Shareholders

In the Annual General Shareholders’ Meeting in 2020 on Monday 3 August 2020 at Crystal Ballroom of Holiday
Inn, located on 981 Silom Road, Silom, Bangrak, Bangkok, the Meeting started at 14.00 with instructions on meeting
proceed, acting vote, and notification on the Company’s regulations in regards to the meeting. After an introduction
of Directors and relevant persons in charges, the meeting proceeded according to the agenda without adding any
additional item to Agenda from both the shareholders and Directors. There was no significant change of information
without advance notice. The Board of Directors allowed the shareholders to inquire and propose their suggestion
in each item of the agenda until they were satisfied. Chief Financial Officer attended the Meeting to provide the
information together with the Auditor to answer the questions if any. The Company Secretary and a few staff
recorded the minutes of the meeting and counted the votes as well as prepared sufficient ballots for voting for
each agenda to every attending shareholders. The meeting took around 2 hours.

The Company was granted by the Thai Investor Association an “Excellent” grade for holding of the Company’s
Annual General Shareholders’ Meeting for the year 2020, with higher scores than average of listing companies in
the SET. We have got “Excellent” grade for 11 consecutive years.

In addition to phone call contact, the Company has provided the other channel for shareholders, investors
and interested public to contact the Investor Relations Unit via website www.bsbm.co.th, whereas messages could
be put and delivered to the Investor Relations Unit.
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Equitable Treatment of Shareholders

In every Shareholder’s Meeting, the Company has a policy to assign an Independent Director to be appointed
as proxy of the shareholders who were unable to attend the Meeting. In the Annual General Shareholders’ Meeting
for 2020, Mr. Komkris Prachakris, Independent Director and Chairman of Audit Committee was assigned to be
appointed as the proxy of shareholders who was unable to attend the meeting as notified in the invitation letters
where proxy documents (type A, B and C) were also attached.

The Company disclosed voting results of each agenda and each voting item (if any) including approval,
objection and silent votes, as well as shareholders’ inquiries and suggestions with the Directors’ responses in the
Minutes of the Annual General Shareholders’ Meeting. The Minutes were published on the website [www.bsbm.
co.th] of the Company.
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The Company has a policy prohibiting an employee
to reveal internal information to others and/or for their

own benefits. The policy and measures are as follows:

1. Providing sufficient information and regularly
updating to executives in all departments about their
duty to report the portfolio of themselves, spouses and
children who have not attain manhood, and setting
penalty in accordance with the Securities and Exchange

and the Stock Exchange of Thailand’s regulations.

2. Requiring the Company’s executives to report
any changes in their portfolio within 3 business days to
the Securities and Exchange Commission and provide a
copy of such report to the Company on the same day the
report is sent to the Securities and Exchange Commission.
The Company distributed a memorandum and verbally
informed the management that the executives who
receive significant information which may affect stock price
must suspend the Company’s stock trading within one
month before the financial statements and/or internal
information are released to the public. The executives
are prohibited from disclosing the significant information
to others. At present, the Company has not yet specified
penalty on the breach of this rule, but let the Board of
Directors investigate and set penalty for individual case.
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At the meeting of the Board of Directors of Bangsaphan
Barmill Public Company Limited, No. 2/2004, on August
26, 2004 with the presence of the three Audit Committee
members, the Board of Directors appraised the internal
control system by discussing with the executives. The
Board of Directors assessed the internal control activities

in five areas as follows:
1. Organization and environment
2. Risk Management
3. Executive performance control
4. Information Technology
5. Monitoring system

The Board of Directors viewed that the Company had
sufficient internal control in all areas mentioned above,
including transition with major shareholders, directors,

executives and those related to these people.

For the year 2020, the Audit Committee together
with internal audit of the Company reviewed all areas
of the internal control to ensure their effectiveness and
recommended to improve efficiency of some functions
to suit with current situations. Moreover the independent
auditor gave additional recommendations to fulfill the

Company’s internal control.
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Reasons and necessity of connected transaction

The connected transactions between the Company, its subsidiaries and related parties have to follow the normal
operations and general trade conditions. Conditions and prices are in line with market price which is comparable
to prices charged on other counterparties in order to maximize benefits of all stakeholders of the Company, its
subsidiaries, and related companies which have common shareholders and directors. These transactions are also
audited by auditor.

Measures and approval process of connected transaction

In order to protect investors’s benefits, the Company will propose any connected transaction that has never
been approved to the Board of Directors, with presence of the Audit Committee, to approve that it is reasonable
and fair for all stakeholders, as well as contains appropriate price policy. The directors, who may have conflict of

interest, cannot vote to approve that connected transactions.

The future connected transaction must comply with the Securities and Stock Exchange Act, as well as regulations,
announcement and rules of the Stock Exchange of Thailand and those of the Securities and Exchange Commission,
including compliance to the rule on disclosure of connected transaction information and major assets acquisition
as required by Federation of Accounting Professions

For the auditing plan of connected transactions, the Audit Committee will assign the Company’s internal
auditor to monitor all details and propose all results of monitoring on monthly basis to the Audit Committee
for every quarter. The Audit Committee assesses that those transactions are appropriated and complied with all

concerned regulations, as well as maximize the Company’s benefits.

Future connected transaction

The Company has no policy to lend except offering credit term. If connected transactions occur with persons
who might have conflict of interest in the future, the company will seek comment from the Audit Committee on
necessity and appropriateness of the items. In case that the Audit Committee does not have expertise in such area,
the Company will seek comment from independent experts or the Company’s auditor. The comment will be used
by the Board of Directors or shareholders’” meeting for consideration. The company will disclose all connected
transactions in the notes to financial statements audited by the Company’s auditor and in the SEC form 56-1
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Explanation and Analysis
of Financial Status and Operating Results

Overall Operating Results

In 2020, the world has faced with the COVID-19 pandemic that adversely affected the global economy.
Meanwhile, the domestic economy has also been adversely affected by COVID-19 as the state’s need to take
lockdown measures to halt the spread of the virus. Tourism and industrial sectors were force shut down the
operation. Although the government has tried to take the measures to stimulate the economy, Thai economy as
a whole is still shrinking more than 6 percent. For the situation of world steel, the steel prices is still volatile as
the steel prices were stabilized in the first half of the year before continuing to rise in the second half of 2020.
Moreover, the steel bar industry which is the Company’s major product was shrunk from the previous year as the
domestic steel consumption reduced by more than 12% in 2020.

GDP Growth Rate (%) -6.1

Domestic Steel Bar Sales Volume (thousand tons) 2,238 2,546 2,445
Growth Rate (%) -12.1 3.3 -6.4
The Company’s Sales (thousand tons) 98 121 115

Growth Rate (%) -19.0 5.2 -14.2
Market Share (%) 4.4 4.8 4.7

The Company has focused on the sales increasing strategy by offering the variety of types and sizes of
product, both round bars and deformed bars, in order to meet the customer demand and expand the market share.
Moreover, the increase in the production volume will help to improve the production cost. As a consequent, the
Company can maintain the market share in 2020 at the level of 5%.

Statement of Income as for the Year Ended December 31, 2020

Revenues

The Company’s sales was decreased from Baht 2,068 million in 2019 to Baht 1,542 million in 2020 or 25.5%
yoy, due to the decrease in average selling price from Baht 17,000 per MT in 2019 to Baht 15,700 per MT in 2020
and the sales volume was also reduced from 121,142 MT in 2019 to 98,276 MT in 2020 or 23.3% yoy. The major
decrease came from the dropping in local demand of steel bar as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.

2020 2019 2018
Product

Amount Amount Amount

Deformed Bar 706.62 44.95 1,086.38 52.36 1,197.79 53.32
2. Round Bar 834.91 53.12 981.58 47.32 1,031.16 45.90
3. Scrap 30.30 1.93 6.56 0.32 17.61 0.78
Total Sales 1,571.83 100.00 2,074.52 100.00 2,246.56 100.00

The Company has completed the installation of machinery to enhance the production process of deformed
steel bars in 2015. With this upgrade production process, the Company can produce and expand the market for
the deformed steel bars sales. According to the above revenue structure, the proportion of the deformed steel
bars sales has slightly decreased from the previous year.
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Total sales were derived from domestic sales of steel bar, tail of steel bar and scrap. Details of proportion of
sales revenues are exhibited in the table below:

Proportion of Income by Product Category 2020 2019 2018
(% of Total Sales Revenue)

Sales Revenue (Million Baht) 1,571.8 2,074.5 2,246.6
Special Line 21.5 20.3 16.3
Normal Line 76.1 78.7 82.3
Tail of Steel Bar 0.7 0.7 0.7
Scrap 1.7 0.3 0.7

In 2020, the proportion of sales from special line, small steel bar category with high gross profit margin,
has increased to 21.5% of total sales revenue. The Company has the competitive advantage for steel bar in this
category in term of production cost as there are fewer manufacturers in the market. Therefore, price competition
is not severe and gross profit margin is higher than other product categories.

Costs and Expenses

The Company’s cost of sales was at Baht 1,411 million and Baht 1,957 million in 2020 and 2019, respectively
and the gross profit rate was at 8.4% and 5.4%. The gross profit rate in 2020 was significantly increased from 2019
due to the increase in metal spread, margin between steel selling price and cost of steel billet, as the steel bar
selling price was decreased at the rate lower than is the billet cost. The main raw material costs of steel bar is steel
billet, the highest proportion in cost of sales, which accounted for more than 80% of steel bar price. Moreover,
the price volatility risk of steel billet is considered high and there is no effective hedging instrument to deal with
this risk (details as discussed in “Risk Factors”).

The other parts of cost of sales are consisted of cost of production (processed by rolling) i.e. energy cost,
depreciation expense, labor cost and variable overhead cost, etc. Energy cost is more than half of all the production

cost.

The selling expenses were at Baht 20 million and Baht 31 million in 2020 and 2019, respectively which accounted
for 1.3% and 1.5% of total sales in 2020 and 2019, respectively. The major expense was the transportation cost
which directly related with the sales volume at the approximately rate of 1-2 %. The administrative expenses were
at Baht 25 million and Baht 28 million in 2020 and 2019, respectively. The major expenses were the employee
expenses which were decreased from last year due to the additional provision of employee benefit was made

according to the new severance benefit.
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The proportion of the selling and administrative expenses to total revenue was slightly increased from 2019
as per the details shown below:

Proportion of Selling and Administrative Expenses to Total
Revenues (%)

For the other income, the Company had the income from sales of scrap of Baht 30.3 million and Baht 6.6 million
in 2020 and 2019 with the related cost of sales of 11 million and Baht 2 million in 2020 and 2019, respectively.

From the Company’s foreign exchange rate management policies (details as shown in “Risk Factors”) in coping
with the imported raw materials from abroad, the Company could realize lower proportion of gain or loss from foreign

exchange when comparing with the Company’s revenues. In 2020 the Company had a slight foreign exchange loss.

Profits

Since the average metal spread has been increased from the previous year as mentioned above which leading
to the significantly change in Company gross profit from 5.4% in 2019 to 8.4% in 2020. This was the major drive in
this year’s performance as the net profit was increased from Baht 49 million in 2019 to Baht 84 million in 2020.

Return on Equity

According to the Company’s performance for the year ended December 31, 2020 which the Company had
the net profit of Baht 84 million or equivalent to net profit per share of Baht 0.07, the Board of Directors deem
appropriate to propose in the 2021 general meeting of shareholders to approve the dividend payment at 0.08 Baht
per share, amounting to Baht 89.69 million. Nonetheless, as the board of directors have approved the decision
to pay interim dividend to shareholders at 0.04 Baht per share for totaling of Baht 44.84 Million which had been
paid on 9th September 2020, thus, if the 2021 general meeting of shareholders approve the pay out of dividend
as proposed the Company will pay the final dividend to the eligible shareholders at 0.04 Baht per share for the
totaling amount of Baht 44.84 Million on this coming 17 May 2021.
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Statement of Financial Position as at December 31, 2020 with Comparative Previous Year
Assets

The Company’s total assets at end of 2020 and 2019 were Baht 1,959 million and Baht 1,954 million,
respectively. The current assets increased from Baht 1,145 million at end of 2019 to Baht 1,171 million at end of
2020 as Inventory balance were significantly decreased from the end of 2019. This was due to the big lot purchase
of billet in the fourth quarter Of 2019. Moreover, the right-of-use asset was also increased by Baht 5.7 million due
to TFRS 16 adoption.

The Company can effectively utilize the existing assets as shown by the comparative proportion of revenues

to assets as per the table below:

(unit: million Baht)

Total Revenues 1,573 2,079 2,249
Trade Accounts Receivable 276 298 353
Inventories 359 744 470
Property, plant and equipment 779 806 836
Total Assets 1,959 1,954 1,959
Average Assets (beginning + ending) / 2 1,956 1,957 1986
Total Revenues to Average Assets 0.80 times 1.06 times 1.13 times

From this table, the proportion of total revenues to average assets were still remained in the same level
as the previous year. Total revenues were decreased from 2019 while total assets were remained the same as
last year. The Company still utilized every Baht 1 of assets in 2020 to generate the income at the high level at
Baht 0.80. It reflected the good results from 3 policies: (1) inventory management to an appropriate level, (2) the
balancing between profit margin and sales volume which also improved the production capacity as well, and (3)

the use of the machinery in production with more efficiency.
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Liabilities
Total liabilities at end of 2020 and 2019 were Baht 43 million and Baht 68 million, respectively. The decrease

in liabilities mainly came from Trade Accounts Payable as a result of the increase in billet purchased at end of
2019. Moreover, the lease liabilities were also increased from last year by Baht 5.8 million due to TFRS 16 adoption.

For debt to equity ratio, the Company could maintain the low ratio at 0.02 and 0.04 for 2020 and 2019,
respectively. This was mainly due to the usage of fund from the shareholder‘s equity instead of long term loan.

Debt to Equity Ratio 0.02 0.04 0.02
(Total Liabilities/Shareholders’ Equity)

Shareholders’ Equity

As at 9 December 2020, the Company has registered the reduction of registered capital and paid-up capital
by writing off all unsold repurchased registered shares amounting to 11,325,000 shares. As a result, the Company’s
registered capital has decreased from Baht 1,132,500,000 to Baht 1,121,175,000 or equivalent to ordinary shares
of 1,121,175,000 shares with the par value of Baht 1.00. Shareholders’ equity as at the end of the period was Baht
1,915 million or Baht 1.71 per share. The significant changes during the year were the comprehensive income of
Baht 84 million, the repurchase share of Baht 9.96 million and the dividend payment of Baht 44.85 million.

Statement of Cash Flow as for the Year Ended December 31, 2020 in Comparison with the Same Period of
Previous Year

The Company’s net cash has been increased by Baht 471 million in 2020. It was consisted of net cash received
from the operating activities of Baht 527 million which mainly came from the reduction of inventory. Net cash used
in financing activities of Baht 56 million was mainly came from the dividend payment of Baht 44 million, the share

repurchased of Baht 10 million and the payment of lease liabilities of Baht 2 million.

Liquidity

The Company maintained a good liquidity as same as the previous year as seen from its liquidity ratio, from
dividing current assets by current liabilities as shown in the table below. At the end of 2020, the Company’s

liquidity ratio at 40.9x, increased from 19.5x at the end of 2019. This high liquidity ratio reflects the high liquidity
of the Company.

Liquidity Ratio 40.9 19.5 31.2
(Current Assets/Current Liabilities)
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Responsibilities of the Board of Directors
for the Financial Statements Reports

The financial statements have been prepared in in accordance with Thai Financial Reporting Standards
enunciated under the Accounting Professions Act B.E. 2547 and their presentation has been made in compliance
with the stipulations of the Notification of the Department of Business Development, issued under the Accounting
Act B.E. 2543 and the rules of Securities and Exchange Commission under Stock Exchange of Thailand Act. B.E. 2535.

The Board of Directors is responsible for the financial statements of Bangsaphan Barmill Public Company Limited
which are prepared to ensure the true and correctness of financial positions, revenues, expenses and cash flows
by keeping sufficient and correct accounting records in order to retain the assets, prevent frauds and irregularity
operations. As a regular practice the financial statements are prepared by using the suitable accounting policy in
accordance with the generally accepted accounting standards and the significant information is sufficiently disclosed
in the Notes to the financial statements. The auditor has expressed her opinion to the financial statements of

Bangsaphan Barmill Public Company Limited in the Auditor’s Report.

PG /A Ay~ —=t

(Mr. Taweesak Senanarong) (Mr. Lee, Yeh-Wen)

Chairman Managing Director
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60,890,231

36,498,381

(8,625,304)
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(125,565)
(125,565)

(1,620,000)
(9,955,745)
(44,847,000)
(56,422,745)
(14,484)
470,340,460
60,493,037
530,833,497

3,753,923

(W28: )

(1,679,842)
(1,679,842)

(424,688)
(79,275,000)
(79,699,688)
(360,498)
(217,444,273)
277,937,310
60,493,037

5,457,042

683,444
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Shareholders of Bangsaphan Barmill Public Company Limited
Opinion

| have audited the accompanying financial statements of Bangsaphan Barmill Public Company Limited (the
Company), which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020, and the related statements
of comprehensive income, changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In my opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Bangsaphan Barmill Public Company Limited as at 31 December 2020, its financial performance and
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Thai Financial Reporting Standards.

Basis for Opinion

| conducted my audit in accordance with Thai Standards on Auditing. My responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of my report.
I am independent of the Company in accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants as issued by
the Federation of Accounting Professions as relevant to my audit of the financial statements, and | have fulfilled
my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. | believe that the audit evidence | have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in my professional judgement, were of most significance in my audit
of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of my audit of the
financial statements as a whole, and in forming my opinion thereon, and | do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

| have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of my report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, my audit included the
performance of procedures designed to respond to my assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements. The results of my audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters
below, provide the basis for my audit opinion on the accompanying financial statements as a whole.

Key audit matters and how audit procedures respond to each matter are describe below.
Revenue recognition

Revenue from sales is one of the Company’s significant accounts because it directly impacts on the
Company’s annual profit or loss. During 2020, the Company recognised revenue from sales of Baht 1,542 million
or representing 98 percent of the Company’s total revenue. Moreover, the sales volumes and selling prices of the
Company correlate with the global market price of steel billet. | therefore focused on the amount and timing of
the Company’s revenue recognition.

| have examined the revenue recognition of the Company by assessing and testing the Company’s internal
controls with respect to the revenue cycle. This involved making enquiry of responsible executives, gaining an
understanding of the controls and selecting representative samples to test the operation of the designed controls.
| also examined supporting documents for actual sales transactions, on a sampling basis, occurring during the
year and near the end of the accounting period, reviewed credit notes that the Company issued to its customers
after the period-end, and performed analytical procedures to detect possible irregularities in sales transactions
throughout the period.
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Allowance for diminution in value of inventory

Estimating the net realisable value of inventories, as disclosed in Note 10 to the financial statements, is an
area of management judgement. This is because the inventories of the Company are a commodity product and
prices fluctuate in accordance with the global market price, and also based on domestic supply and demand. In
addition, estimation of the net realisable value of inventories requires the use of estimates of the costs of completed
production, relating selling expenses and selling price. There is a risk with respect to the amount of provision set
aside for diminution in value of inventory.

| assessed the method and the assumptions applied by the Company’s management in determining the provision
for diminution in value of inventory by making enquiry of responsible executives and gaining an understanding of
the basis applied by management in determining the provision for diminution in value of inventory. | also reviewed
the consistency of the application of that basis, and compared proceeds from sales transactions occurring after
the date of the financial statements with the cost of inventory for each product line.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprise the information included
in annual report of the Company, but does not include the financial statements and my auditor’s report thereon.
The annual report of the Company is expected to be made available to me after the date of this auditor’s report.

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and | do not express any form
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or my
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

When | read the annual report of the Company, if | conclude that there is a material misstatement therein,
I am required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance for correction of the misstatement.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with Thai Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with Thai Standards on Auditing will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Thai Standards on Auditing, | exercise professional judgement and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. | also:
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e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If | conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, | am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

| communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that |
identify during my audit.

| also provide those charged with governance with a statement that | have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on my independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, | determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. | describe these matters in my auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, | determine that a matter should not be communicated in
my report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

I am responsible for the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report.

Tammpe w\;’o«\/‘xw%

Isaraporn Wisutthiyan
Certified Public Accountant (Thailand) No. 7480

EY Office Limited
Bangkok: 22 February 2021
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Statement of Financial Position

Bangsaphan Barmill Public Company Limited
As at 31 December 2020

(Unit: Baht)

Note 2020 2019

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 8
Trade receivables 7, 9
Inventories 10

Advance payment for purchase of raw materials,
supplies and spare parts

Input tax refundable

Other current assets

Total current assets

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 11
Right-of-use assets 12
Non-operating asset 13
Deferred tax assets 22

Other non-current assets
Total non-current assets

Total assets

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

146 Bangsaphan Barmill PLC.

530,833,497
276,147,115
359,221,626

3,613,311
1,338,151
1,171,153,700

778,818,574
5,732,798
2,103,589

705,000
787,359,961
1,958,513,661

60,493,037
298,018,781
743,792,127

11,196,780
30,330,645
1,460,073
1,145,291,443

806,330,444

1,914,335
705,000
808,949,779
1,954,241,222



Statement of Financial Position (continued)

Bangsaphan Barmill Public Company Limited
As at 31 December 2020

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Advance received from customer
Current portion of lease liabilities
Income tax payable
Withholding tax payable
Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities, net of current portion
Provision for long-term employee benefits
Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Shareholders’ equity
Share capital
Registered

1,121,175,000 ordinary shares of Baht 1 each

(2019: 1,132,500,000 ordinary shares of Baht 1 each)

Issued and fully paid-up

1,121,175,000 ordinary shares of Baht 1 each

(2019: 1,132,500,000 ordinary shares of Baht 1 each)

Ordinary share premium
Premium on treasury shares
Retained earnings

Appropriated

statutory reserve

Unappropriated
Total shareholders’ equity
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

(Unit: Baht)

Note 2020 2019

7, 15

12

12
16

17

17

17

18

14,611,742
1,449,544
8,459,536

337,398
3,773,542
28,631,762

4,376,214
10,424,986
14,801,200
43,432,962

1,121,175,000

1,121,175,000
621,846,700
1,369,255

113,250,000
57,439,744
1,915,080,699
1,958,513,661

39,332,223
9,895,131
4,556,752
4,597,883

421,977

58,803,966

9,571,675
9,571,675
68,375,641

1,132,500,000

1,132,500,000
621,846,700

113,250,000
18,268,881
1,885,865,581
1,954,241,222

Annual Report 2020 147



Statement of comprehensive income

Bangsaphan Barmill Public Company Limited

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Unit: Baht)

Profit or loss:
Revenues
Sales 1,541,532,282 2,067,961,440

Other income

Revenue from sale of scrap 30,295,719 6,565,679
Others 800,238 3,500,022
Total revenues 1,572,628,239 2,078,027,141
Expenses

Cost of sales 1,411,343,312 1,956,516,109
Cost of sales of scrap 11,085,767 2,027,441
Selling and distribution expenses 20,401,655 31,054,514
Administrative expenses 25,020,586 27,952,656
Total expenses 1,467,851,320 2,017,550,720
Profit from operating activities 104,776,919 60,476,421
Finance income 19 764,380 1,005,343
Finance cost 20 (347,480) (591,533)
Profit before income tax expenses 105,193,819 60,890,231
Income tax expenses 22 (21,175,956) (12,340,629)
Profit for the year 84,017,863 48,549,602

Other comprehensive income:

Other comprehensive income not to be reclassified to

profit or loss

in subsequent periods

Actuarial gain - net of income tax - 683,444
Other comprehensive income for the year - 683,444
Total comprehensive income for the year 84,017,863 49,233,046
Earnings per share 23

Basic earnings per share 0.07 0.04

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

148 Bangsaphan Barmill PLC.



i

‘SjUaWI1DIS JoIdUDUL 3Y) fo ubd (DISaIUI UD 24D S210U SUIAUDALOIDD 3y |

669080°G16°T - vbLi6eh LS - 000°092°¢TT GGC'69¢‘T  00L°9P8‘TZ9 000°GLI‘TZTT 020¢ J1°quisda(Q T¢ je se aduejeg
(0002b8°Pp) - (000°L18'vD) - - - - - 24 ped pusping
- Gb1‘GG66  GbL'GG66 (GP1°G56°6) - GGZ'69¢T - (000°G2¢‘TT) s saleys Ainseal} uo jeyded Jo uononpay
(Gb1°G56°6) (SPL°556'6)  (GPL'G56°6) Gpl'5G6'6 - - - - ya) saJeys Ainseas|
£98°210'v8 - €98°210v8 = = - - - 13 3y} 10} WOodUl SAISUSY4dWod 1R10 |

- . B, - - = = - 1eaA 2y} 10} 2WodUl aAIsURYIdWod J1aYI0

£98°2.10v8 - £98°.10'v8 - - - = - 18k 3y) 10J 10id
185°G98°G88‘T - 188°892°81 - 000092°¢TT - 00.9v81Z9 000°005°CET‘T 020z Asenuer T je se aduejeg
186°G98°G88‘T - 188°892°81 - 000092°¢TT - 00.9v81Z9 000°005°CET‘T 610¢ 1°qui=d3(Q T¢ je se aduejeg
(000'sLe6L) - (000°522°6L) - - - - - 9z pied pusping
ov0‘ceC 6b = 9v0°ceZ 6 = = - - - 134 3y J0J WUl dAISUSY1dwod 1R10 |
vbe89 - vbe89 - - = = = JBaK Y3 40} SWoDUl dAISURYIdWIOD JIBYIO
209'6v5°8p - 209'6v5°8y - - - - - J1eak 3y} 10J 1oid
GgS‘L06°G16°T - Ge8‘01E '8y - 000092°CTT - 00.9v8129 000°005°CET‘T 610Z Asenuer T je se aduejeg

CSYNEEEY saueys

Ainbs SAISSDI

3]0
saleys pajendoiddeun saleys Ainseau) wnjwsaid 1ended aieys gl
Slapoyaieys

Aionyeys dn-pied Ay

Ainseau| Ainseau| uo aleys
18301 pue panss|
sSujules paule}ay wniwesid

(3yeg :1un)
020g Jequieoa LE papus Jeak syl Jo4
pauwi] Auedwo) 21gnd |iwieg ueydesbueg

Aunba siapjoyaJleys ul sebueyo Jo Juswalels

149

Annual Report 2020



Cash flow statement

Bangsaphan Barmill Public Company Limited
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before income tax expense

Adjustments to reconcile profit before tax to net cash
provided by (paid from) operating activities:

Depreciation

Reversal of reduction of inventory to net realisable value
Realised gain on exchange

Unrealised loss on exchange

Long-term employee benefits expenses

Finance income

Finance cost

Profit from operating activities before changes in
operating assets and liabilities

Operating assets (increase) decrease

Trade receivables

Inventories

Advance payment for purchase of raw materials, supplies
and spare parts

Other current assets

Operating liabilities increase (decrease)

Trade and other payables

Advance received from customers

Other current liabilities

Cash paid for long-term employee benefits
Cash flows from (used in) operating activities

Interest received

Corporate income tax paid

Net cash flows from (used in) operating activities

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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105,193,819

32,886,871
(779)
14,484
1,431,819
(764,381)
217,447

138,979,280

21,871,666
380,816,578

7,583,469
30,452,567

(24,719,702)
(9,895,131)
(908,920)
(578,508)
543,601,299
764,381
(17,462,426)
526,903,254

(Unit: Baht)

2020 2019

60,890,231

36,498,381
(8,625,304)
360,498
3,405,455
(1,005,343)
424,688

91,948,606

55,174,320
(270,449,153)

(11,196,780)
(13,385,121)

17,873,187
1,383,310
4,271,217
(500,000)

(124,880,414)
1,005,343
(11,829,174)
(135,704,245)



Cash flow statement (continued)

Bangsaphan Barmill Public Company Limited
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of equipment

Net cash flows used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities

Cash paid for treasury shares

Interest paid

Dividend paid

Net cash flows used in financing activities

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (Note 8)

Supplemental cash flows information
Non-cash transactions
Transfer inventories to equipment

Actuarial gain - net of income tax

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

(125,565)
(125,565)

(1,620,000)
(9,955,745)
(44,847,000)
(56,422,745)
(14,484)
470,340,460
60,493,037
530,833,497

3,753,923

(Unit: Baht)

2020 2019

(1,679,842)
(1,679,842)

(424,688)
(79,275,000)
(79,699,688)
(360,498)
(217,444,273)
277,937,310
60,493,037

5,457,042
683,444
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Notes to Financial Statements

Bangsaphan Barmill Public Company Limited
For the year ended 31 December 2020

1. General information
1.1 Corporate information

Bangsaphan Barmill Public Company Limited (“the Company”) is a public company incorporated and domiciled
in Thailand. The Company is principally engaged in the manufacture and distribution of deformed and round steel
bars. The registered office of the Company is at 28/1 Prapawit building, 8th Floor, Surasak Road, Kwang Silom, Khet
Bangrak, Bangkok. Its plant is located at 8 Moo 7, Ban Klang Na-Yai Ploy Road, Tambon Mae Rumphueng, Amphur
Bangsaphan, Prachuabkirikhan.

1.2 Coronavirus disease 2019 Pandemic

The Coronavirus disease 2019 pandemic is adversely impacting most businesses and industries. This situation
may bring uncertainties and have an impact on the environment in which the Company operates. The Company’s
management has continuously monitored ongoing developments and assessed the financial impact in respect of
the valuation of assets, provisions and contingent liabilities, and has used estimates and judgement in respect of

various issues as the situation has evolved.

2. Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Thai Financial Reporting Standards enunciated
under the Accounting Professions Act B.E. 2547 and their presentation has been made in compliance with the
stipulations of the Notification of the Department of Business Development, issued under the Accounting Act B.E.
2543,

The financial statements in Thai language are the official statutory financial statements of the Company. The

financial statements in English language have been translated from the Thai language financial statements.

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except where otherwise disclosed in

the accounting policies.
3. New financial reporting standards
a) Financial reporting standards that became effective in the current year

During the year, the Company has adopted the revised (revised 2019) and new financial reporting standards
and interpretations which are effective for fiscal years beginning on or after 1 January 2020. These financial reporting
standards were aimed at alignment with the corresponding International Financial Reporting Standards with most
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of the changes directed towards clarifying accounting treatment and providing accounting guidance for users of the
standards. The adoption of these financial reporting standards does not have any significant impact on the Company’s
financial statements. However, the new standard involves changes to key principles, which are summarised below:

Financial reporting standards related to financial instruments

A set of TFRSs related to financial instruments consists of five accounting standards and interpretations,

as follows:

Financial reporting standards:
TFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
TFRS 9 Financial Instruments

Accounting standard:

TAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation

Financial Reporting Standard Interpretations:
TFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation
TFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments

These TFRSs related to financial instruments make stipulations relating to the classification of
financial instruments and their measurement at fair value or amortised cost (taking into account the type
of instrument, the characteristics of the contractual cash flows and the Company’s business model),
calculation of impairment using the expected credit loss method, and hedge accounting. These include

stipulations regarding the presentation and disclosure of financial instruments.
These standards do not have any significant impact on the Company’s financial statements.
TFRS 16 Leases

TFRS 16 supersedes TAS 17 Leases together with related Interpretations. The standard sets out the
principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases, and requires a lessee
to recognise assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying

asset is low value.

Accounting by lessors under TFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from TAS 17. Lessors will continue
to classify leases as either operating or finance leases.

The Company recognised the cumulative effect of the adoption of this financial reporting standard as
an adjustment to retained earnings as at 1 January 2020, and the comparative information was not restated.

The cumulative effect of the change is described in Note 4 to the financial statements.

b) Financial reporting standards that became effective for fiscal years beginning on or after 1
January 2021

The Federation of Accounting Professions issued a number of revised financial reporting standards and
interpretations, which are effective for fiscal years beginning on or after 1 January 2021. These financial
reporting standards were aimed at alignment with the corresponding International Financial Reporting
Standards with most of the changes directed towards clarifying accounting treatment and providing
accounting guidance for users of the standards.

The management of the Company is currently evaluating the impact of these standards to the financial
statements in the year when they are adopted.
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4. Cumulative effects of changes in accounting policies due to the adoption of new financial reporting
standards
As described in Note 3 to the financial statements, during the current year, the Company has adopted financial

reporting standard related to TFRS 16. The cumulative effect of initially applying this standard was recognised as
an adjustment to retained earnings as at 1 January 2020. Therefore, the comparative information was not restated.

The impacts of changes in accounting policies on the statements of financial position at the beginning of 2020
due to the adoption of this standard is presented as follows:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

The effect of

Financial reporting

standards related to
31 December 2019 | financial instruments | TFRS 16 | 1 January 2020

Statement of financial position
Assets
Non-current assets

Right-of-use assets -

7,228 7,228
Liabilities and shareholders’
equity

Current liabilities

Current portion of lease liabilities - 1,402 1,402
Non-current liabilities

Lease liabilities, net of current -

5,826 5,826

portion
Shareholders’ equity

Retained earnings - 18,269 = = 18,269
unappropriated
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4.1 Financial instruments

As at 1 January 2020, classification and measurement of financial assets required by TFRS 9, in comparison
with classification and the former carrying amount, are as follows:
(Unit: Thousand Baht)
Classification and measurement in accordance with TFRS 9

The former | Fair value Fair value

carrying through through other

: Amortised cost
amount profit or | comprehensive

loss income

Financial assets as at 1
January 2020

Cash and cash equivalents 60,493 - - 60,493 60,493
Trade receivables 298,019 - - 298,019 298,019
Total financial assets 358,512 - - 358,512 358,512

As at 1 January 2020, the Company has not designated any financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

4.2 Leases

On adoption of TFRS 16, the Company recognised lease liabilities in relation to lease that previously classified as
operating leases measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the Company’s
incremental borrowing rate at 1 January 2020.

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Operating lease commitments as at 31 December 2019 6,464
Less: Leases of low-value assets (129)
Add: Option to extend lease term 4,860
Less: Contracts reassessed as service agreements (3,365)
Less: Deferred interest expenses (602)
Increase in lease liabilities due to the adoption of TFRS16 7,228
Weighted average incremental borrowing rate (percent per annum) 3.3%

Comprise of:
Current lease liabilities 1,402
Non-current lease liabilities 5,826
7,228

Annual Report 2020 155 “ ‘



5. Significant accounting policies
5.1 Revenue and expense recognition
Sales of goods

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised at the point in time when control of the asset is transferred to the
customer, generally on delivery of the goods. Revenue is measured at the amount of the consideration received
or receivable, excluding value added tax, of goods supplied after deducting discounts and price promotions to

customers.
Interest income

Interest income is calculated using the effective interest method and recognised on an accrual basis. The
effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, unless the financial assets
subsequently become credit-impaired when it is applied to the net carrying amount of the financial asset (net of
the expected credit loss allowance).

Finance cost

Interest expense from financial liabilities at amortised cost is calculated using the effective interest method

and recognised on an accrual basis.
5.2 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in hand and at bank, and all highly liquid investments with an

original maturity of three months or less and not subject to withdrawal restrictions.
5.3 Inventories

Finished goods are valued at the lower of cost (under the average method) and net realisable value. Cost

includes all production costs and attributable factory overheads.

Raw material and manufacturing supplies are valued at the lower of average cost and net realisable value.

Spare parts are valued at the lower of cost (the first-in, first-out method) and net realisable value.
Raw materials and factory supplies are changed to production costs whenever consumed.
5.4 Property, plant and equipment/Depreciation

Land is stated at cost. Buildings, equipment and bearer plant (rubber trees) stated at cost less accumulated

depreciation and allowance for loss on impairment of assets (if any).

Depreciation of buildings and equipment is calculated by reference to their costs on the straight-line basis over
the following estimated useful lives, except for machinery and equipment in production line which is depreciated

using the units-of-production method.

Office buildings 20 years
Plant building and plant building improvement 30 years
Machinery and equipment in production line production units estimated
- Normal line at a total 7.2 million tons
- Special line at a total of 0.864 million tons
Equipment 5, 10 years
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years
Bearer plant 20 years

No depreciation is provided on land, machinery under installation.

Depreciation is included in determining income.
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An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on disposal of an asset is included in profit or loss
when the asset is derecognised.

5.5 Related party transactions

Related parties comprise individuals or enterprises that control, or are controlled by, the Company, whether

directly or indirectly, or which are under common control with the Company.

They also include associated companies, and individuals or enterprises which directly or indirectly own a voting
interest in the Company that gives them significant influence over the Company, and key management personnel,

and directors and officers with authority in the planning and direction of the Company’s operations.
5.6 Leases

At inception of contract, the Company assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

Accounting policies adopted since 1 January 2020

The Company applied a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term
leases and leases of low-value assets. At the commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date the underlying asset
is available for use), the Company recognises right-of-use assets representing the right to use underlying assets and

lease liabilities based on lease payments.
Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less accumulated depreciation, any accumulated impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities initially recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement

date of the lease less any lease incentives received.

Depreciation of right-of-use assets are calculated by reference to their costs [or the revalued amount], on the

straight-line basis over the shorter of their estimated useful lives and the lease term.
Buildings and building improvement 3 years
Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are measured at the present value of the lease payments to be made over the lease term. The
lease payments include fixed payments less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend
on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be payable under residual value guarantees. Moreover, the lease
payments include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Company and
payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Company exercising an option to
terminate. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expenses in the

period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

The Company discounted the present value of the lease payments by the interest rate implicit in the lease
or the Company’s incremental borrowing rate. After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments or

a change in the assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.
Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

A lease that has a lease term less than or equal to 12 months from commencement date or a lease of low-

value assets is recognised as expenses on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Annual Report 2020 157



Accounting policies adopted before 1 January 2020

Leases of plant or equipment which do not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are
classified as operating leases. Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

5.7 Foreign currencies
This financial statements is presented in Baht, which is also the Company’s functional currency.

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into Baht at the exchange rate ruling at the date of the
transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Baht at the exchange

rate ruling at the end of reporting period.
Gains and losses on exchange are included in determining income.
5.8 Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Company performs impairment reviews in respect of the property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use asset whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that an asset
may be impaired. An impairment loss is recognised when the recoverable amount of an asset, which is the higher

of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use, is less than the carrying amount.
An impairment loss is recognised in the profit or loss (if any).
5.9 Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits
Salaries, wages, bonuses and contributions to the social security fund are recognised as expenses when incurred.
Post-employment benefits
Defined contribution plans

The Company and its employees have jointly established a provident fund. The fund is monthly contributed
by employees and by the Company. The fund’s assets are held in a separate trust fund and the Company’s
contributions are recognised as expenses when incurred.

Defined benefit plans

The Company has obligations in respect of the severance payments it must make to employees upon retirement
under labor law. The Company treats these severance payment obligations as a defined benefit plan.

The obligation under the defined benefit plan is determined by a professionally qualified independent actuary
based on actuarial techniques, using the projected unit credit method.

Actuarial gains and losses arising from defined benefit plans are recognised immediately in other comprehensive
income.

Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss on the earlier of the date of the plan amendment or curtailment
and the date that the Company recognised restructuring - related costs.

5.10 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable
that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
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5.11 Income tax
Income tax expense represents the sum of corporate income tax currently payable and deferred tax.
Current tax

Current income tax is provided in the accounts at the amount expected to be paid to the taxation authorities,

based on taxable profits determined in accordance with tax legislation.
Deferred tax

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their

carrying amounts at the end of each reporting period, using the tax rates enacted at the end of the reporting period.

The Company recognises deferred tax liabilities for all taxable temporary differences while they recognise
deferred tax assets for all deductible temporary differences and tax losses carried forward to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which such deductible temporary differences and tax

losses carried forward can be utilised.

At each reporting date, the Company reviews and reduces the carrying amount of deferred tax assets to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred

tax asset to be utilised.

The Company records deferred tax directly to shareholders’ equity if the tax relates to items that are recorded
directly to shareholders’ equity.

5.12 Financial instruments
Accounting policies adopted since 1 January 2020

The Company initially measures financial assets at its fair value plus, in the case of financial assets that are not
measured at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. However, trade receivables, that do not contain a
significant financing component, are measured at the transaction price as disclosed in the accounting policy relating
to revenue recognition.

Classification and measurement of financial assets

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as to be subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”), or fair value though profit or loss (“FVTPL”). The classification of
financial assets at initial recognition is driven by the Company’s business model for managing the financial assets

and the contractual cash flows characteristics of the financial assets.
Financial assets at amortised cost

The Company measures financial assets at amortised cost if the financial asset is held in order to collect
contractual cash flows and the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows

that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest rate (“EIR”) method
and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised,

modified or impaired.
Classification and measurement of financial liabilities

At initial recognition the Company’s financial liabilities are recognised at fair value net of transaction costs and
classified as liabilities to be subsequently measured at amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process.
In determining amortised cost, the Company takes into account any fees or costs that are an integral part of the

EIR. The EIR amortisation is included in finance costs in profit or loss.
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Derecognition of financial instruments

A financial asset is primarily derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired
or have been transferred and either the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, or the Company has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset but

has transferred control of the asset.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying

amounts is recognised in profit or loss.
Impairment of financial assets

For trade receivables, the Company applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, the Company
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each
reporting date. It is based on its historical credit loss experience and adjusted for forward-looking factors specific
to the debtors and the economic environment.

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
Accounting policies adopted before 1 January 2020
Trade accounts receivable

Trade accounts receivable are stated at the net realisable value. Allowance for doubtful accounts is provided
for the estimated losses that may be incurred in collection of receivables. The allowance is generally based on

collection experiences and analysis of debt aging.

6. Significant accounting judgements and estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with financial reporting standards at times requires
management to make subjective judeements and estimates regarding matters that are inherently uncertain. These
judgements and estimates affect reported amounts and disclosures; and actual results could differ from estimates.
Significant judgements and estimates are as follows:

Leases
Determining the lease term with extension and termination options

In determining the lease term, the management is required to exercise judgement in assessing whether the
Company is reasonably certain to exercise the option to extend or terminate the lease considering all relevant
facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive for the Company to exercise either the extension or

termination option.
Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Company cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore, the management
is required to exercise judgement in estimating its incremental borrowing rate to discount lease liabilities. The
incremental borrowing rate is the rate of interest that the Company would have to pay to borrow over a similar
term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset

in a similar economic environment.
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Allowance for diminution in value of inventory

In determining allowance for diminution in value of inventory, the management exercises judgment in estimating
the net realisable value of inventory based on the amount the inventories are expected to realise. These estimates
are based on estimates of selling prices, which take into account events occurring after the end of the period and
estimates of related costs and expenses.

Property plant and equipment/Depreciation

In determining depreciation of plant and equipment, the management is required to make estimates of the
useful lives and residual values of the plant and equipment and to review estimate useful lives and residual values
when there are any changes.

In addition, the management is required to review property, plant and equipment for impairment on a
periodical basis and record impairment losses when it is determined that their recoverable amount is lower than
the carrying amount. This requires judgments regarding forecast of future revenues and expenses relating to the
assets subject to the review.

Post-employment benefits under defined benefit plans

The obligation under the defined benefit plan is determined based on actuarial techniques. Such determination

is made based on various assumptions, including discount rate, future salary increase rate, mortality rate and staff
turnover rate.

7. Related party transactions

During the years, the Company had significant business transactions with its related parties. Such transactions,
which are summarised below, arose the ordinary course of business and were conclude on commercial terms and
based agreed upon by the Company and those related parties.

(Unit: Million Baht)

2020 2019 Transfer Pricing Policy

Sales 23 0.9 At prices and on trading terms similar to

Transactions with related companies

those of sales to normal customers
Utilities expenses 42.9 51.5 At agreed price with reference of cost and
related expenses of provision
Transportation expenses 54 14.2  Based on distance which is priced in the nor-
mal course of business
Manufacturing expenses - 0.1 At prices and on trading terms similar to

those of sales to normal customers

Service expenses 24 2.4 Contract price
Rental expenses 2.2 2.2 Contract price
Management fee 0.6 0.6  Contract price

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the balances of the accounts between the Company and those related
parties are as follows:
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(Unit: Thousand Baht)

2020 2019

Trade payables - related parties (Note 15)

Related companies

Sahaviriya Steel Industries Plc. 3,041 3,722
SVL Corporation Co., Ltd. 9 1,571
Prachuap Port Co., Ltd. - 1,543
C.AR. Service Co., Ltd. 248 209
Western Security Guard Co., Ltd. 204 201
West Coast Engineering Co.,Ltd. = 10
Total trade payables - related parties 3,502 7,256

Directors and management’s benefits

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Company had employee benefit expenses of its
directors and management as below.

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

2020 2019

Short-term employee benefits 10,284 10,260
Post-employment benefits 231 579
Total 10,515 10,839

8. Cash and cash equivalents

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

2020 2019

Cash 80 80
Bank deposits 530,753 60,413
Total 530,833 60,493
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9. Trade receivables

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

2020 2019

Trade receivables - unrelated parties

Aged on the basis of due dates

Not yet due 263,546 273,925
Past due
Up to 3 months 12,601 24,094
Total trade receivables - unrelated parties 276,147 298,019
Total trade receivables 276,147 298,019

As at 31 December 2020, the outstanding balances included in post-dated cheques and notes receivable
amounting to Baht 176 million (2019: Baht 213 million).

During the year 2019, the Company sales its notes receivable amounting to Baht 109 million (2020: Nil) at a
discount to financial institution without recourse.

10. Inventories

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Reduce cost to
Cost net realisable value Inventories - net

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

Finished goods 259,313 309,305 259,313 309,305
Raw materials 4,537 346,065 - - 4,537 346,065
Supplies and spare parts 95,372 88,422 - - 95,372 88,422
Total 359,222 743,792 - - 359,222 743,792

During the year 2019, the Company reversed the write-down of cost of inventories by Baht 8.6 million (2020:
Nil), and reduced the amount of inventories recognised as expenses during the year.
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11. Property, plant and equipment

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Machinery
. Assets under
1145 and Furniture, . .
Building and fixtures Motor installation
~ building and office Equipment vehicles and
improvement cauibment under
quip construction
Cost:
As at 1 January 2019 96,293 363,611 1,009,300 22,602 40,307 8,505 - 7,714 1,548,332
Additions - 25 1,219 253 - - 182 - 1,679
Transfers - 271 5,249 119 - - (182) - 5,457
As at 31 December 2019 96,293 363,907 1,015,768 22,974 40,307 8,505 - 7,714 1,555,468
Additions - - - 126 - - - - 126
Transfers - - 3,754 - - - - - 3,754
As at 31 December 2020 96,293 363,907 1,019,522 23,100 40,307 8,505 - 7,714 1,559,348

Accumulated depreciation:

As at 1 January 2019 - 228,287 419,757 21,108 39,775 3,487 - 226 712,640
Depreciation for the year - 12,118 21,943 567 267 1,217 - 386 36,498
As at 31 December 2019 - 240,405 441,700 21,675 40,042 4,704 - 612 749,138
Depreciation for the year - 12,124 16,943 488 233 1,217 - 386 31,391
As at 31 December 2020 - 252,529 458,643 22,163 40,275 5921 - 998 780,529

Net book value:

31 December 2019 96,293 123,502 574,068 1,299 265 3,801 - 7,002 806,330
31 December 2020 96,293 111,378 560,879 937 32 2,584 - 6,716 7783819
Depreciation for the year:

2019 (Baht 36 million included in manufacturing cost, and the balance in administrative expenses) 36,498

2020 (Baht 30 million included in manufacturing cost, and the balance in administrative expenses) 31,391

As at 31 December 2020, certain plant and equipment items have been fully depreciated but are still in use.
The gross carrying amount before deducting accumulated depreciation of those assets amounted to approximately
Baht 65 million (2019: Baht 64 million).

All land, buildings and machinery are mortgaged/pledged as collateral for credit facilities obtained from a bank.
The beneficiary rights under the insurance policies for these mortgaged/pledged assets have also been transferred
to the bank.
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12. Leases
a) Right-of-use assets

Movement of right-of-use assets for the year ended 31 December 2020 are summarised below:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Building and building improvement

1 January 2020 (Note 4) 7,228
Depreciation for the year (1,495)
31 December 2020 5,733

b) Lease liabilities

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Consolidated financial statements

Lease payments 6,210 =
Less: Deferred interest expenses (384) -
Total 5,826 -
Less: Portion due within one year (1,450) -
Lease liabilities - net of current portion 4,376 -

A maturity analysis of lease payments is disclosed in Note 28.1 under the liquidity risk.

c) Expenses relating to leases that are recognised in profit or loss

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

For the year ended

31 December 2020

Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets 1,495

Interest expense on lease liabilities 217

Expense relating to leases of low-value assets 72
d) Others

The Company had total cash outflows for leases for the year ended 31 December 2020 of Baht 4.9 million,
including the cash outflow related to short-term lease and leases of low-value assets.
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13. Non-operating asset

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

2020 2019

Non-operating asset - land 4,154 4,154

Less: Allowance for impairment (4,154) (4,154)

Non-operating asset - net - -

a)

o)

166

In January 2010, the Company received a letter dated 5 January 2010 from the Department of Lands,
relating to the revocation of the Certificate of Utilisation (Nor Sor 3 Kor), ordering that the Nor Sor 3 Kor
certificate be revoked in accordance with the order of the Director General of the Department of Lands No.
15/2553 dated 5 January 2010. For prudent reasons, the Company has set aside allowance for impairment

of this non-operating asset in full in the 2009 financial statements.

In August 2010, the Company filed a lawsuit against the officers of Prachuapkhirikhan Provincial Lands
Office, Bangsaphan Branch with the Central Administrative Court, petitioning the Central Administrative
Court to order the cancellation of the announcement of replacements for such Nor. Sor.3. Kor. In addition,
the Company also petitioned the Count to identify measures to provide temporary relief to the plaintiffs.

Currently, this case is being considered by the Court.

In September 2010, the Company petitioned the Central Administrative Court to withdraw the order of
the Director General of the Department of Lands No. 15/2553 dated 5 January 2010 and currently, this

case is being considered by the Court.

In December 2010, the Company received a letter from Bangsaphan Sheriff, as the official responsible for
protection the conserved forest area of Klong Mae Rumphueng, Prachuabkirikhan.This referred to Section
25(1) of the Conserved Forest Act B.E. 2507 and ordered the Company to leave and discontinue any
activities on the conserved forest area.

In March 2011, the Company petitioned the Central Administrative Court to reverse the Sheriff’s order

that the Company leave and discontinue any activities on the conserved forest area.

In August 2013, the Company received a letter from Bangsaphan Sheriff notifying it that the Central
Administrative Court had issued an order granting a stay of execution of the Administrative Court’s order

for the Company to leave the conserved forest area and discontinue any activities therein.

In January 2015, the Company received a letter from Bangsaphan Sheriff notifying the Company of an order
of the Supreme Administrative Court (disposing of a petition to appeal the order for a stay of execution
issued by the Administrative Court). The decision of the Supreme Administrative Court was to reverse the
Central Administrative Court’s order, dismissing the petition for a stay of execution of the order for the

Company to leave the conserved forest area and discontinue any activities therein.

Later in February 2018, the Central Administrative Court dismissed the case. As a result, the Sheriff’s order
has continued.

In September 2011, the Company petitioned the Central Administrative Court with respect to wrongdoing
or other liability of government agencies or state officials as a result of the exercise of authority under
laws, administrative orders, or other orders, in order to claim monetary damages for loss of opportunity

from land usage. At present, this case is being considered by the Court.

However, the management of the Company believes that this order will not have any significant impact

on the Company’s operations and financial statements.
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14. Short-term credit facilities from bank

The Company has been granted credit facilities amounting to Baht 675 million from a bank, consisting of bank

overdraft facilities amounting to Baht 10 million and short-term loan facilities amounting to Baht 665 million. As
at 31 December 2020, the Baht 675 million credit facilities (2019: Baht 675 million) have yet been drawn down.

The credit facilities are secured by the mortgage/pledge of all land, buildings and machinery of the Company

as described in Note 11 to the financial statements. In addition, under the credit facilities agreement, the Company

has to comply with certain covenants regarding the operations, financial ratios and other conditions.

15. Trade and other payables

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

2020 2019

Trade payables - related parties (Note 7) 3,502 7,256
Trade payables - unrelated parties 9,295 29,800
Accrued expenses 1,815 2,276
Total 14,612 39,332

16. Provision for long-term employee benefits

Provision for long-term employee benefits, which represents compensations payable to on employees after

they retire, was as follows:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

2020 2019

Provision for long-term employee benefits at beginning of year 9,572 7,521

Included in profit or loss:

Current service cost 1,217 1,060
Interest cost 214 183
Past service costs - 2,162

Included in other comprehensive income:

Acturial (gain) loss arising from

Demographic assumptions changes = (163)
Financial assumptions changes - 404
Experience adjustments - (1,095)
Benefits paid during the year (578) (500)
Provision for long-term employee benefits at end of year 10,425 9,572

The Company expects to pay Baht 1.7 million of long-term employee benefits during the next year (2019:

Baht 0.6 million).

As at 31 December 2020, the weighted average duration of the liabilities for long-term employee benefit is

10 years (2019: 10 years).
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Significant actuarial assumptions at the valuation date are summarised belows:

(Unit: Percent per annum)

2020 2019

Discount rate 2.29% 2.29%
Salary increase rate 4.00% 4.00%
Turnover rate 5.00% - 17.00% 5.00% - 17.00%

The result of sensitivity analysis for significant assumptions that affect the present value of the long-term

employee benefit obligation as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 are summarised below:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Increase Decrease Increase Decrease
1 714

ea
Discount rate (671) 760 (630)
Salary increase rate 1 1,013 (904) 845 (758)
Turnover rate 10 (374) 397 (351) 373

17. Treasury shares

On 26 December 2019, the Board of Directors meeting of the Company passed a resolution to repurchase the
Company’s share (Treasury stock) for financial management purposes in the maximum amount of Baht 11.5 million,
which is equivalent to a number of shares to be repurchased up to 11,325,000 shares, or 1% of the paid-up share

capital of the Company. The share repurchase will come into during 10 January to 9 July 2020.

On 2 March 2020, the Company repurchase a total of 11,325,000 shares, or 1% of the paid-up share capital,
totaling Baht 9.96 million. So, the Company ended such share repurchase program. In addition, the Company has

appropriated the retained earnings with an equivalent amount as the treasury shares reserve.

On 9 November 2020, the Board of Directors meeting of the Company passed a resolution to resell all of
11,325,000 repurchased shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange of Thailand. The resale period was from 24
November to 26 November 2020. In case the Company had repurchased shares that were not resold within the
resale period, the Company would reduce the registered and paid-up share capital by cancelling all of these shares.

On 9 December 2020, the Company registered capital reduction and paid-up share capital of the Company with
the Ministry of Commerce. The capital reduction was made by cancelling 11,325,000 shares that were repurchased
but not resold. The Company recognised the difference of Baht 1.4 million arising from the value of issued shares
being greater than the cost of repurchased shares that were written off, and presented as “Premium on treasury

shares” in the statement of financial position.

18. Statutory reserve

Pursuant to Section 116 of the Public Limited Companies Act B.E. 2535, the Company is required to set aside
to a statutory reserve at least 5 percent of its net profit for the year after deducting accumulated deficit brought
forward (if any), until the reserve reaches 10 percent of the registered capital. The statutory reserve is not available

for dividend distribution. At present, the statutory reserve has fully been set aside.
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19. Finance income

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

2020 2019

Interest income on bank deposits 764 1,005

20. Finance cost

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

2020 2019

Interest expenses on borrowings - 425
Interest expenses on lease liabilities 217 -
Fees for using short-term credit facilities 130 167
Total 347 592

21. Expenses by nature
Significant expenses classified by nature are as follows:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

2020 2019

Salaries and wages and other employee benefits 53,772 56,009
Depreciation 32,886 36,498
Transportation expenses 17,471 26,485
Raw materials and consumables used 1,247,921 1,904,407
Changes in inventories of finished goods 49,992 (78,429)

22. Income tax

Income tax expenses for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 are made up as follows:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

2020 2019

Current income tax:

Current income tax charge 21,365 11,197
Deferred tax:

Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences (189) 1,144
Income tax expenses reported in profit or loss 21,176 12,341
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The amounts of income tax relating to each component of other comprehensive income for the years ended
31 December 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Deferred tax on actuarial gain - 171

The reconciliation between accounting profit and income tax expenses is shown below.

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

2020 2019

Accounting profit before tax 105,194 60,890
Applicable tax rate 20% 20%
Accounting profit before tax multiplied by income tax rate 21,039 12,178
Effects of:

Non-deductible expenses 158 194
Additional expense deductions allowed (21) (31)
Total 137 163
Income tax expenses reported in profit or loss 21,176 12,341

The components of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liability are as follows:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Statements of financial position
2020 2019

Deferred tax assets

Provision for long-term employee benefits 2,084 1,914
Lease 1,242 -
Total 3,327 1,914

Deferred tax liability

Lease 1,223 -
Total 1,223 -
Deferred tax assets - net 2,104 1,914
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23. Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the
Company (excluding other comprehensive income) by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
during the year.

The following table sets forth the computation of basic earnings per share:

Profit for the year Weighted average Earnings

number of ordinary per share

shares

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
(Thousand | (Thousand | (Thousand | (Thousand | (Baht) (Baht)
Baht) Baht) shares) shares)

Profit attributable to equity holders 84,018 48,550 1,122,961 1,132,500 0.07 0.04

Basic earnings per share

24. Segment information

Operating segment information is reported in a manner consistent with the internal reports that are regularly
reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in order to make decisions about the allocation of resources to
the segment and assess its performance.

The Company is principally engaged in the manufacture and distribution of deformed and round steel bars.
Its operation is carried on exclusively in Thailand. Segment performance is measured based on operating profit
or loss, on a basis consistent with that used to measure operating profit or loss in the financial statements. As a
result, all of the revenues, operating profits and assets as reflected in these financial statements pertain to the
aforementioned reportable operating segment and geographic area.

For the year 2020, the Company has two major customers with a total revenues of Baht 952 million (2019:
Baht 1,396 million derived from three major customers).

25. Provident fund

The Company and its employees have jointly established a provident fund in accordance with the Provident
Fund Act B.E. 2530. Both employees and the Company contribute to the fund monthly at the rate of 3 percent
of basic salary. The fund, which is managed by Kasikorn Asset Management Company Limited, will be paid to
employees upon termination in accordance with the fund rules. The contribution for the year 2020 amounting to
Baht 0.6 million (2019: Baht 0.6 million) were recognised as expenses.
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26. Dividends

Dividends Approved by Total Dividend
dividends | per share

(Thousand | (Baht per
Baht) share)

Final dividends for 2018 The Annual General Meeting of the shareholders on 22

April 2019 33,975 0.03
Interim dividends for 2019  The Board of Directors’ Meeting on 11 November 2019 45,300 0.04
Total for 2019 79,275
Interim dividend for 2020  The Board of Director Meeting on 10 August 2020 44,847 0.04
Total for 2020 44,847

27. Commitments

The Company has entered into the lease agreement of low-value assets of equipment and services agreements.
The terms of the agreements are generally between 1 and 4 years.

As at 31 December 2020, future minimum lease payments required under these leases and service contracts

were as follows:

(Unit: Million Baht)

Payable:
Inup to 1 year 3.1
In over 1 and up to 4 years 0.1

28. Financial instruments
28.1 Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Company’s financial instruments principally comprise cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, trade
and other payables, and lease liabilities. The financial risks associated with these financial instruments and how
they are managed are described below.

Credit risk

The Company is exposed to credit risk primarily with respect to trade receivables. The Company’s maximum
exposure to credit risk is limited to the carrying amounts as stated in the statements of financial position.

Trade receivables

The Company manasges the risk by adopting appropriate credit control policies and procedures. Although the
Company are exposed to credit risk with respect to trade receivables since the majority of sales are made to a
limited number of customers. However, due to those customer’s creditworthiness, the Company do not anticipate
material losses from debt collection.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date to measure expected credit losses. The provision
rates are based on days past due. The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of
money and reasonable and supportable information that is available at the reporting date about past events,
current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.
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Market risk
There are three types of market risk comprising interest rate risk, currency risk and commodity price risk.
Interest rate risk

The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk relates primarily to its cash at banks. However, since most of the
Company’s financial assets and liabilities bear floating interest rates, the interest rate risk is expected to be minimal.

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, significant financial assets and liability classified by type of interest rate
are summarised in the table below, with those financial assets and liabilities that carry fixed interest rates further

classified based on the maturity date, or the repricing date if this occurs before the maturity date.

(Unit: Million Baht)

2020 2019

Floating Non- Effective Floating Non- Effective
interest interest

interest | bearing | Total | interest rate | interest | bearing | Total | interest
rate rate rate

( % per (% per
annum) annum)

Financial Assets
Cash and cash

equivalent 531 - 531 0.050 -.125 60 - 60 0.375
Trade receivables - 276 276 - - 298 298 -
Financial liabilty
Trade and other -

payables - 15 15 - - 39 39

Foreign currency risk

The Company’s exposure to the foreign currency risk relates primarily to purchasing raw materials for production
that are denominated in foreign currencies. The Company expects that there may be an effect from changes in
exchange rates resulting from unhedged assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies.

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the balances of financial assets dominated in foreign currencies are
summarised bellows.

2020 2019 2020 2019

(Million) (Million) (Baht per 1 foreign currency unit)
US dollar 0.2 0.2 30.0371 30.1540
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Commodity price risk

The Company is affected by the price volatility of certain commodities. Its operating activities require the
ongoing purchase of billet and therefore require a continuous supply of billet. The Company is exposed to changes
in the price of its forecast billet purchases.

The Company has developed and enacted a risk management strategy for commodity price risk and its mitigation.
The Company mainly hedges the purchase price by sourcing the billet from domestic sources by ordering the small
quantities in accordance with the production plan and sales forecast of each month. However, the Company will
purchase the big lots of billet from abroad when the price is reasonable.

Liquidity risk
The Company monitors the risk of a shortage of liquidity through the use of bank overdrafts, bank loans and

lease contracts. The Company has assessed the concentration of risk with respect to refinancing its debt and

concluded it to be low. The Company has access to a sufficient variety of sources of funding.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Company’s non-derivative financial liabilities and

derivative financial instruments as at 31 December 2020 based on contractual undiscounted cash flows:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

On Less than 1 1to5
> 5 years Total
demand year years

Non-derivatives

Trade and other payables - 14,612 - - 14,612
Lease liabilities - 1,620 4,590 - 6,210
Total non-derivatives - 16,232 4,590 - 20,822

28.2 Fair values of financial instruments

Since the majority of the Company’s financial instruments are short-term in nature or carrying interest at a rate
closed to the market interest rates, their fair value is not expected to be materially different from the amounts

presented in the statement of financial position.

29. Capital management

The primary objective of the Company’s capital management is to ensure that it has appropriate capital
structure in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value. As at 31 December 2020, the Company’s
debt-to-equity ratio was 0.02:1 (2019: 0.03:1).

30. Event after the reporting period

On 22 February 2021, the Company’s Board of Directors Meeting passed a resolution to approve the payment
of dividend by cash of Baht 0.04 per share, from the operating result of the year of 2020 and a portion of retained
earnings, or a total of Baht 44.8 million.

The dividend payment will be further proposed to the Annual General Meeting of the Company’s shareholders

for approval in April 2021.

174 Bangsaphan Barmill PLC.



31. Reclassifications

Certain amounts in the statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2019, have been
reclassified to conform to the current period’s classification. The reclassifications are as follows.

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

For the year ended 31 December 2019

As reclassified As previously reported

Others income 3,500 4,505

Statement of comprehensive income
Finance income 1,005 =

The reclassifications had no effect to previously reported profit or shareholders’ equity.

32. Approval of financial statements

These financial statements were authorised for issue by the Company’s Board of Directors on 22 February 2021.
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